MASTER THESIS TECHNICAL MEDICINE MEDICAL SENSING AND STIMULATION

The use of nasal high-flow therapy to treat central sleep apnoea in patients with congestive heart failure

 Sietske van der Leest, BSc.

 January 18, 2018

The use of nasal high-flow therapy to treat central sleep apnoea in patients with congestive heart failure

Sietske van der Leest, BSc.

January 18, 2018

Technical Medicine, Medical Sensing and Stimulation

University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands

Department of Respiratory Medicine

University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

umcg

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Graduation committee

Chairman and external member	Prof. dr. H.J. (Hans) Zwart
	Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science
	University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
Medical supervisor	Dr. M.L. (Marieke) Duiverman
	Department of Respiratory Medicine
	University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands
Technical supervisor	Dr. ir. A. (Ainara) Garde Martinez
	Biomedical Signals and Systems
	University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
Process supervisor	Drs. R.J. (Rian) Haarman
	Master's program Technical Medicine
	University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands
Additional member	Prof. dr. P.J. (Peter) Wijkstra
	Department of Respiratory Medicine
	University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Preface

This thesis has been written to fulfil the graduation requirements of the Technical Medicine master program at the University of Twente (UT). I was engaged in researching and writing this thesis from February 2017 to January 2018 at the Center of Home Mechanical Ventilation at the University Medical Center in Groningen. There have been plenty of people who supported me during my graduation year, which I would like to thank.

At first, I would like to thank all my supervisors for the time and effort you put into supervising me. Dr. Marieke Duiverman, thank you for all the meetings, for supporting me during my graduation year and for all the feedback you gave me. I have learned so much from you, both about the clinic and about performing good research. Thereby, I enjoyed our meetings a lot: you are enthusiastic, curious and critical. Dr. ir. Ainara Garde Martinez, thank you for encouraging me to try new techniques and for thinking with me about solutions. You were involved in the project and we had very productive and nice meetings. Drs. Rian Haarman, thank you for being the consistent supervisor during the last two years of my study, in which you have seen me develop. I always had the feeling that I could talk to you when I had something on my mind. Thereby, you taught me how to reflect on things. Prof. dr. Hans Zwart, thank you for being the chairman and external member of my graduation committee. Despite you are no direct supervisor, you were always interested in what I did. I am glad that you wanted to chair my graduation. Prof. dr. Peter Wijkstra, thank you for taken part in my graduation committee and for having me in the Home Mechanical Ventilation team last year. You are leading the team in an impressive way: you are involving everyone, you are open for ideas of every person, but still very critical.

Additionally, I would like to thank all the amazing people working at the Center of Home Mechanical Ventilation. I have learned so much from you last year and I really appreciated that I was included in the team. A special thanks to Petra Meijer for working with me last year on this project. I think we complemented well on each other. Thereby, I enjoyed the titration nights together: we could talk about anything, which made the titration nights less tough.

I would like to thank Leo van Eykern for helping me out when I had problems with the Dipha, even when you were not part of the company anymore. I appreciate that a lot. I also want to thank Rob Hagmeijer and Steven Wanrooij for the inspiring meetings at the UT and for helping me out when I had questions.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the other researchers at the lung department for all the lunch moments, for being such nice roommates and for all the nice coffee and cake moments. I would like to thank my fellow students of Technical Medicine for the amazing time during my study and for all the support. I would like to thank the pulmonary physicians for teaching me more about lung diseases last year. I also want to thank the participants in the RELAX study, without you I would have been unable to do this project.

Last, but no least, I would like to thank all my friends and family. It has been a tough year, but together we could handle it. Thank you for all the support, also content wise by reading my report. Especially, I would like to thank Tjalling for being the best boyfriend I could wish for: you always support me, you give a better perspective on life when I need it, you take care of me, but especially: life is much better together with you!

Best regards,

Sietske van der Leest

Groningen, January 18, 2018

Abstract

Introduction: Central sleep apnoea (CSA) is a common syndrome in patients with congestive heart failure. The combination of CSA and congestive heart failure is associated with higher morbidity and mortality rates. However, there is no safe and effective therapy available for treating CSA in these patients. Nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) is a novel therapy that provides high levels of flow ranging between 10-50 L/min of heated and humidified air through an open nasal cannula, with or without oxygen. The aim of the study is to evaluate the effectiveness of nHFT stabilising ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA.

Methods: Ten patients with severe congestive heart failure and untreated moderate to severe CSA will be treated with nHFT during the night for 4 weeks. The apnoea hypopnoea index (AHI) before and after nHFT is compared. The patients will be initiated on nHFT during a titration night, in which different nHFT settings, with and without oxygen, are applied. Many physiological effects of nHFT, such as the generated pressure, work of breathing, neural breathing drive and heart rate variability (HRV), will be measured to determine the optimal nHFT setting and gain more information about the mechanisms of action.

Results: Currently, the study is on-going. So far, three patients have been included. Preliminary results showed low compliance rates: 2 patients dropped-out due to non-tolerance, and the only patient who has finished the study, did not decide to continue therapy afterwards. Complaints included nose irritation, a too large nasal cannula, and an uncomfortable high flow rate. The AHI of the patient who finished the study decreased from 30 to 12 events per hour with nHFT. During the titration night, the AHI was lower when additional oxygen was given. When the nHFT flow rate was higher, an increase of the pharyngeal pressure was not measured, the work of breathing decreased when the patient slept with the mouth closed, and the neural breathing drive seemed to decrease. nHFT did not influence HRV.

Discussion: There are indications that nHFT with the addition of oxygen makes ventilation more stable in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. Especially oxygen addition seems to be effective reducing AHI. More patients need to be included in the study to verify this result. Patients were not satisfied with nHFT. Probably, low humidity levels and a large nasal cannula might explain the low compliance. A humidity level between 34-37 °DP and a smaller nasal cannula are advised. Furthermore, the high flow rate made exhaling more difficult, which is uncomfortable. It is recommended to analyse whether a nHFT device, in which the flow rate decreases when there is resistance, would increase the compliance. Moreover, it was difficult to determine the optimal nHFT setting during the titration night due to poor sleep quality. The sleep quality during the titration night and compliance might increase when patients get used to sleeping with the nHFT device one week before the titration night. The pharyngeal pressure was not measured properly due to occlusion of the catheter by secretions. When occlusion by secretions was prevented, the pharyngeal pressure increased linearly with a higher nHFT flow rate. A 20 ml/h airflow produced by a microinfusor at the inlet of the catheter might avoid occlusion of the catheter by secretions. There are indications that a higher flow rate reduces the work of breathing and the neural breathing drive, which indicates that patients can relax their muscles more with a higher flow rate. No clear HRV changes due to nHFT were found, since the sleep stages influenced HRV a lot. HRV should be compared before and after nHFT to analyse HRV changes due to nHFT.

Conclusion: nHFT with the addition of oxygen might stabilise ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. However, due to the poor compliance so far, nHFT does not seem to be an optimal treatment for these patients.

Nederlandse samenvatting

Introductie: Het centraal slaapapneu-syndroom (CSAS) komt veel voor bij patiënten met hartfalen. De combinatie van CSAS met hartfalen is geassocieerd met een hogere morbiditeit en mortaliteit. Echter is er nog geen veilige en effectieve therapie beschikbaar om CSAS te behandelen in deze patiënten. Nasal high-flow therapie (nHFT) is een nieuwe therapie dat verwarmde en bevochtigde lucht, met of zonder zuurstof, met een hoge luchtstroom tussen de 10-50 L/min aanbiedt aan de patiënt via een neusbril. Het doel van de studie is om de effectiviteit van nHFT in het stabiliseren van de ademhaling in patiënten met hartfalen en CSAS te analyseren.

Methode: Tien patiënten met ernstig hartfalen en onbehandeld matig tot ernstig CSAS worden behandeld met nHFT gedurende 4 weken tijdens de nacht. De Apneu-Hypopneu Index (AHI), het aantal ademstops per uur, voor en na nHFT worden met elkaar vergeleken. De patiënten worden ingesteld op nHFT tijdens een titratienacht, waarin verschillende nHFT instellingen, met en zonder zuurstof, worden toegepast. Veel fysiologische effecten van nHFT, zoals de creëerde drukken, de ademarbeid, de aansturing van de spieren en de hartslagvariabiliteit (HRV), worden bekeken om de optimale nHFT instelling te bepalen en om meer over het werkingsmechanisme van nHFT te weten te komen.

Resultaten: Op dit moment loopt de studie en zijn er drie patiënten geïncludeerd. Voorlopige resultaten laten een lage compliantie zien: 2 patiënten stopten vroegtijdig met de studie, en de enige patiënt die de studie afmaakte, wilde niet doorgaan met de therapie. Patiënten klaagden over neus irritaties, een te grote neusbril en een oncomfortabele hoge luchtstroom. De AHI van de patiënt die de studie afmaakte, verlaagde van 30 naar 12 ademstops per uur met nHFT. Tijdens de titratienacht was de AHI lager wanneer zuurstof werd toegevoegd. Bij een verhoogde luchtstroom van de nHFT steeg de farynx druk niet, verlaagde de ademarbeid als de patiënt met de mond dicht sliep, en leek de aansturing van de spieren te verlagen. De nHFT had geen invloed op de HRV.

Discussie: Er zijn aanwijzingen dat de ademhaling van patiënten met hartfalen en CSAS meer stabiel wordt door nHFT met zuurstof. Vooral zuurstof lijkt effectief te zijn in het verlagen van de AHI. Meer patiënten moeten worden geïncludeerd om dit resultaat te verifiëren. Patiënten waren niet tevreden met de therapie. Een te laag bevochtigingslevel en een te grote neusbril kan deels de lage compliantie verklaren. Een bevochtigingslevel tussen 34-37 °DP en een kleinere neusbril wordt aangeraden. Daarnaast maakte de hoge luchtstroom het uitademen moeilijker, wat niet aangenaam is. Het wordt aanbevolen om te analyseren of de compliantie omhoog gaat als een ander nHFT apparaat gebruikt wordt, waarbij de luchtstroom verlaagd wanneer het apparaat weerstand voelt. De patiënten sliepen slecht tijdens de titratienacht, wat het moeilijk maakte om de optimale nHFT instelling te bepalen. De slaapkwaliteit tijdens de titratienacht en de compliantie zouden kunnen verbeteren als de patiënten één week voor de titratienacht al wennen aan het slapen met de nHFT. De farynx druk werd niet juist gemeten, doordat de katheter verstopt raakte met slijm. De farynx druk steeg lineair met een verhoogde luchtstroom van de nHFT wanneer verstopping met slijm werd voorkomen. Het aanbieden van een continue luchtstroom van 20 ml/h aan de katheter zou een verstopping van de katheter kunnen voorkomen. Er zijn aanwijzingen dat een verhoogde luchtstroom de ademarbeid en de aansturing van de ademhalingsspieren doet verminderen, waardoor patiënten hun ademhalingsspieren meer kunnen ontspannen. Er werden geen duidelijke HRV veranderen gezien met nHFT, aangezien de slaapstadia de HRV erg beïnvloedden. De HRV voor en na nHFT zouden met elkaar vergeleken moeten worden om te analyseren wat voor effect nHFT heeft op de HRV.

Conclusie: nHFT met zuurstof lijkt de ademhaling van patiënten met hartfalen en CSAS te stabiliseren. Echter lijkt nHFT niet een geschikte therapie te zijn voor deze patiënten vanwege de lage compliantie.

Contents

Pı	refac	e	ii
Al	bstra	act	iv
N	ederl	landse samenvatting	vi
Li	st of	Abbreviations	x
0	utlin	e of the thesis	xii
1	PAI	RT I: The effects of nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT)	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
		1.1.1 Research questions	2
	1.2	Background	3
		1.2.1 Normal breathing physiology	3
		1.2.2 Central sleep appoea and the relation with congestive heart failure	3
		1.2.3 Potential effects of nHFT	4
	1.3	Methods	7
		1.3.1 Patient population	7
		1.3.2 Study design	7
		1.3.3 Measurement setup of titration night	8
		1.3.4 Data analysis	11
	1.4	Results	15
		1.4.1 Tolerance and side effects	15
		1.4.2 Effectiveness of nHFT	15
		1.4.3 AHI per nHFT setting during titration night	16
		1.4.4 Relationship of delivered flow rate and pharyngeal pressure	16
		1.4.5 Assessment of work of breathing per nHFT setting during titration night	16
		1.4.6 Assessment of neural breathing drive per nHFT setting during titration night	18
		1.4.7 Assessment of heart rate variability per nHFT setting during titration night	19
	1.5	Discussion	21
		1.5.1 Effectiveness of nHFT in stabilising ventilation	21
		1.5.2 Mechanisms of action of nHFT	21
		1.5.3 Titration of the optimal nHFT setting	26
		1.5.4 Limitations and recommendations	27
		1.5.5 Directions for future research	27
	1.6	Conclusion	29
2	PAI	RT II: Added value of transcutaneous electromyography (EMG)	31
	2.1	Introduction	31
	2.2	Methods	32
		2.2.1 Data acquisition	32
		2.2.2 Detection of sleep appoea with EMG	32
		2.2.3 Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG	32
	2.3	Results	33
		2.3.1 Detection of sleep appoea with EMG	33
		2.3.2 Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG	33

efere	nces		39
2.5	Concl	usion	37
	2.4.3	Limitations and recommendations	36
	2.4.2	Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG	35
	2.4.1	Detection of sleep apnoea with EMG	35
2.4	Discus	ssion	35

References

List of Abbreviations

$\Delta \mathbf{P}_{di}$	Amplitude of the transdiaphragmatic pressure
$\int \mathbf{P}_{di}$	Integral of the transdiaphragmatic pressure
$\Delta \mathbf{P}_{es}$	Amplitude of the oesophageal pressure
$\Delta \mathbf{P}_{pha}$	Amplitude of the pharyngeal pressure
6MWD	Six minute walk distance
AHI	Apnoea hypopnoea index
amp	Amplitude
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASV	Adaptive servo-ventilation
AUC	Area under the curve
\mathbf{AUC}_{c}	Area under the curve during central approcess
\mathbf{AUC}_{EMG}	Area under the curve of the EMGdi_{fse} signal
\mathbf{AUC}_{EMG1}	AUC_{EMG} calculated from the neural onset to the neural onset of the consecutive breath
\mathbf{AUC}_{EMG2}	AUC_{EMG} calculated from the neural onset to the neural offset
\mathbf{AUC}_n	Area under the curve during normal breathing
\mathbf{AUC}_o	Area under the curve during obstructive apnoeas
BiPAP	Bi-level positive airway pressure
\mathbf{CO}_2	Carbon dioxide
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease
CPAP	Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
\mathbf{CSA}	Central sleep apnoea
ECG	Electrocardiogram
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EMG	Electromyography
\mathbf{EMGdi}	Electromyography signals from the frontal diaphragm
\mathbf{EMGdi}_{fse}	Fixed sample entropy analysis of the EMGdi signal
ESS	Epworth Sleepiness Scale
\mathbf{FiO}_2	Fractional inspired oxygen
FOSQ	Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire
GOLD	Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease
HF	High frequency (f>0.2 Hz and f<1 Hz) power per minute
HRV	Heart rate variability
\mathbf{HRV}_{ECG}	Heart rate variability estimated with the ECG signals of the polysomnography
\mathbf{HRV}_{EMG}	Heart rate variability estimated with the EMGdi signals
\mathbf{I}_{off}	End of inspiration

\mathbf{I}_{on}	Start of inspiration
KDE	Kernel density estimation
\mathbf{LF}	Low frequency (f>0.04 Hz and f<0.2 Hz) power per minute
LF/HF ratio	The ratio of the normalised LF power to the normalised HF power
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
$\mathbf{n}\mathbf{HFT}$	Nasal high-flow therapy
\mathbf{nt}_{off}	Neural offset
\mathbf{nt}_{on}	Neural onset
NTproBNP	N-terminal natriuretic peptide
\mathbf{O}_2	Oxygen
OSA	Obstructive sleep apnoea
\mathbf{PaCO}_2	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide in arterial blood
\mathbf{PaO}_2	Partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood
\mathbf{P}_{di}	Transdiaphragmatic pressure
\mathbf{P}_{es}	Oesophageal pressure
\mathbf{P}_{ga}	Gastric pressure
\mathbf{P}_{pha}	Pharyngeal pressure
PRP	Pressure-rate product
PTP	Pressure-time product
PSG	Polysomnography
REM	Rapid Eye Movement
RMSSD	Root-mean-square of the successive normal sinus R-R intervals
RR	Respiratory rate
SDB	Sleep-disordered breathing
SDNN	Standard deviation of the successive normal sinus R-R intervals
\mathbf{T}_{e}	Expiration time
\mathbf{T}_i	Inspiration time
\mathbf{t}_{off}	End of inspiration determined from flow signal
\mathbf{t}_{on}	Start of inspiration determined from flow signal
Total power	Average power (VLF + LF + HF) per minute
VLF	Very low frequency (f<0.04 Hz) power per minute

Outline of the thesis

This thesis consists of two different parts. Part I, the main part of this thesis, describes a clinical study to evaluate the effectiveness of nasal high-flow therapy stabilising ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and central sleep apnoea. The clinical study is performed together with Petra Meijer, a nurse specialist at the Center of Home Mechanical Ventilation at the University Medical Center in Groningen. Currently, the clinical study is on-going. So far, three patients have been included. Part I is about the preliminary results of these three patients.

During the clinical study, transcutaneous electromyography data have been collected. Part II describes the additional value of electromyography data detecting both obstructive and central sleep apnoea and estimating heart rate variability. To answer the additional research question of part II, the electromyography signals recorded during the clinical study have been analysed.

1 PART I: The effects of nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT)

1.1 Introduction

Congestive heart failure is a common disease with a prevalence of 26 million people worldwide¹. It is expected that this prevalence will increase by 46% in the next 15 years². Patients with congestive heart failure suffer from severe dyspnoea d'effort and fatigue due to an impaired pump function of the heart, which has a great influence on quality of life³. However, these symptoms could also be caused by sleep-disordered breathing (SDB)⁴, from which almost 46% of the patients with severe congestive heart failure suffer⁵. The combination of congestive heart failure with severe SDB is associated with decreased cardiac output and increased morbidity and mortality rates^{6;7}, since SDB can have adverse effects on cardiac function ^{3;4;8-10} and can induce arrhythmias ^{3;7;11}. An effective treatment for SDB could result in decreased morbidity and improved survival⁶. However, many patients with congestive heart failure are not treated for SDB, since the diagnosis of SDB is often missed due to overlapping symptoms between congestive heart failure and SDB¹¹.

SDB in patients with congestive heart failure can have an obstructive origin (obstructive sleep apnoea) or a central origin (central sleep apnoea), with or without a crescendo-decrescendo breathing pattern with oscillating tidal volumes, called Cheyne-Stokes respiration^{3;4}. In patients with congestive heart failure and SDB, 80% suffer from central sleep apnoea (CSA) and 20% suffer from obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA)¹². Both OSA and CSA are characterised by repetitive episodes of absence of airflow (apnoea) or a reduction of airflow (hypopnoea)¹³, which can result in nocturnal oxygen desaturations, arousals and sympathetic activation¹⁴. OSA is caused by a collapse of the upper airways while respiratory muscles continue working to maintain an adequate airflow¹⁵. CSA is caused by a reduced or absent central neural breathing drive, resulting in absent rib cage or abdominal excursions¹⁵.

Treatment of OSA or CSA in patients with congestive heart failure is targeted to decrease the amount of apnoeas and hypopnoeas. The number of apnoeas and hypopnoeas per hour is expressed as the apnoea hypopnoea index (AHI)¹⁶. OSA can be treated adequately with Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP), which keeps the upper airways open¹⁷. However, treatment of CSA in congestive heart failure patients, especially with Cheyne-Stokes respiration, is more challenging due to complex pathophysiological mechanisms. Hypocapnia, hypoxemia, increased chemosensitivity, increased circulation time and narrow oxygen (O₂) reserve, all contribute to the existence of CSA and/or Cheyne-Stokes respiration⁴. There are several therapies available for the treatment of CSA in patients with congestive heart failure, such as nocturnal oxygen therapy^{8;14;16}, acetazolamide^{16;18–20}, and ventilation with adaptive servo-ventilation (ASV)⁹, CPAP^{5;8–11;16;21;22} or Bi-level positive airway pressure (BiPAP)^{23;24}. There is no agreement on how to treat patients with congestive heart failure and CSA effectively, since studies showed inconclusive results in clinical outcomes, were short-term and/or showed no sufficient clinical improvements. Moreover, some studies even showed adverse effects of the therapies. For instance, ASV therapy increased the mortality in patients with congestive heart failure, while it decreased the AHI⁹. The reasons for this increased mortality are unknown⁹. Furthermore, the compliance of CPAP is low, which limits the effectiveness of this therapy¹⁷. Overall, there is an urgent need for a safe and effective therapy for treating CSA in these patients.

Nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) could be a new safe and effective treatment option for patients suffering from congestive heart failure and CSA. nHFT provides high levels of flow ranging between 10-50 L/min of heated and humidified air through an open nasal cannula, with or without $oxygen^{25}$. There are several working mechanisms of nHFT proposed, which could be beneficial for patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. The provided flow can generate end-expiratory pharyngeal pressures which can reduce upper airway obstruction, reduce left ventricular afterload and stabilise ventilation^{26–28}. This is sufficient to reduce AHI in patients with OSA when using sufficient high levels of flow^{29;30}. Oxygen addition can prevent oxidative stress and reduce

chemosensitivity (the degree whether metabolic changes result in changes in minute ventilation), which can lead to a reduction of periods of apnoea $^{4;8;31}$. Furthermore, nHFT can reduce the inspiratory resistance by providing adequate flow, which can reduce the related work of breathing $^{25;32;33}$. Moreover, because of the heated and humidified air, high oxygen concentrations can be delivered, airway dryness can be avoided and the metabolic work associated with gas conditioning can be reduced $^{32;34}$. Additionally, compliance rates of this therapy are promising $^{32;35}$. Studies show that nHFT reduced breathing frequency 32 , work of breathing 36 , frequency of arousals, AHI, and increased nocturnal oxygen saturation and sleep quality $^{29;32}$. However, there are also some possible disadvantageous working principles of nHFT for patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. For example, nHFT reduces the anatomical dead space resulting in a decreased carbon dioxide (CO₂) level, which might induce apnoeas 27 . Furthermore, high levels of flow can promote hyperventilation due to a ventilatory overshoot 28 . Altogether, the mechanisms of action are not fully understood $^{27;34;37}$. Thereby, there are no studies performed to assess the effectiveness of nHFT reducing AHI in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. Moreover, it is not known which nHFT setting should be used in these patients and how the optimal setting could be determined.

In this study, the effectiveness of nHFT stabilising ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA is being studied. Ten patients with congestive heart failure and untreated CSA will use nHFT during the night for 4 weeks and the AHI before and after the use of nHFT will be compared. The patients will be initiated on nHFT during a titration night, in which different nHFT settings are applied. Many physiological effects of nHFT, such as the generated pressure, work of breathing, neural breathing drive and heart rate variability, will be measured to determine the optimal nHFT setting and to gain more information about the mechanisms of action.

1.1.1 Research questions

This part of the study answers three research questions. The first research question is:

1) Can ventilation of patients with congestive heart failure and moderate to severe CSA be stabilised by applying nHFT for four weeks during the night?

This research question is answered by comparing the AHI before and after applying nHFT.

At this moment, the mechanisms of action of nHFT on patients with congestive heart failure and CSA are not known. Therefore, the second research question is:

2) What are the mechanisms of action of nHFT on patients with congestive heart failure and CSA?

Another goal of this study is to gain information about how the optimal nHFT setting can be determined during the titration night. Therefore, the third research question is:

3) How can the optimal nHFT setting reducing AHI in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA be determined during the titration night?

To answer the second and the third research question, the effect of different nHFT settings on pharyngeal pressure, work of breathing, neural breathing drive, heart rate variability and respiratory rate is analysed.

1.2 Background

Firstly, the normal breathing physiology will be discussed. Thereafter, more information will be given about the pathophysiology of CSA and Cheyne-Stokes respiration in relation with congestive heart failure. Finally, the expected effects of nHFT on patients with congestive heart failure and CSA will be discussed more extensively.

1.2.1 Normal breathing physiology

During the day, ventilation is regulated by higher supraportine influences and by metabolic processes, namely changes in PaO_2 (partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood), $PaCO_2$ (partial pressure of carbon dioxide in arterial blood) or pH. During sleep, ventilation is regulated by metabolic processes only, which should be sufficient to regulate ventilation during sleep. Metabolic control of ventilation is mainly done by the chemoreceptors in the aorta, carotids and brainstem (see Figure 1). The receptors responding mainly to changes in PaO_2 are the peripheral chemoreceptors in the carotid and aortic bodies. When these receptors detect a decrease in PaO_2 , the afferent activity of the receptors increase resulting in an increase in minute ventilation. The degree of increase of the minute ventilation depends on the hypoxic chemosensitivity. When the hypoxic chemosensitivity is high, small changes in PaO_2 cause huge changes in minute ventilation resulting in ventilatory instability. When the hypoxic chemosensitivity is decreased, a decrease in PaO_2 results in a too limited increase in minute ventilation. PaCO₂ changes are sensed by peripheral chemoreceptors in the carotid and aortic bodies and by central chemoreceptors, from which the central chemoreceptors are more important in regulating $PaCO_2$. The central chemoreceptors are located in the brainstem (more specific in the ventral surface of the medulla) and can react on changes in the pH, which is related to PaCO₂. When the chemoreceptors detect a low pH, minute ventilation increases, which decreases $PaCO_2$ and increases pH. The CO_2 chemosensitivity is the degree whether changes in pH and $PaCO_2$ are aligned with changes in minute ventilation. When the CO_2 chemosensitivity is increased, this leads to instability and central approace.¹³

	Regulated mainly by:	Working principle:
PaO ₂	Peripheral chemoreceptors in the carotid and aortic bodies	$\downarrow PaO_2 = \uparrow \text{ minute ventilation} = \uparrow PaO_2$
PaCO ₂	Central chemoreceptors in the brainstem	$\psi pH = \uparrow minute ventilation = \psi PaCO_2$ $= \uparrow pH$

Figure 1: Summary of the regulation of ventilation by metabolic processes.

Besides these metabolic processes that influence ventilation during sleep, other factors are also important. For example, a decrease in tonic activity of the pharyngeal muscles during sleep, especially during REM (Rapid Eye Movement) sleep, may lead to a collapse of the upper airway once a negative intraluminal pressure is generated during inspiration¹³. Normally, despite this loss of tonic activity of the pharyngeal dilator muscles, the tonic activity is still sufficient to prevent a collapse¹³.

Another factor that influences ventilation during sleep is the CO_2 reserve. The CO_2 reserve is defined as the difference between the sleep eupneic PaCO₂ set point, which is the PaCO₂ level during stable breathing, and the apnoea threshold, which is the level of PaCO₂ leading to an apnoea. Normally, this difference is around 2-6 mmHg. When this CO_2 reserve is decreased, the ventilatory system is less stable.¹³

1.2.2 Central sleep apnoea and the relation with congestive heart failure

There is a high prevalence of CSA in patients with congestive heart failure (around 36%)^{12;21}, of which Cheyne-Stokes respiration is the most common form⁵. CSA is characterized by an instable ventilatory control¹³. This

instability is characterised by periods of central apnoeas and periods of hyperventilation ^{7;13}. In patients with Cheyne-Stokes respiration, hyperventilation results into a $PaCO_2$ level below the apnoeic threshold triggering a central apnoea⁴. Due to this central apnoea, the $PaCO_2$ level raises above the apnoeic threshold. When chemoreceptors detect this increased $PaCO_2$ level, the patient starts to hyperventilate bringing the $PaCO_2$ level below the apnoeic threshold again (shown in Figure 2 in the circle)⁴. This instability is often present in non-REM sleep, when ventilation is almost solely driven by metabolic processes ^{4;13}.

The presence of CSA can aggravate congestive heart failure. Oxygen desaturations and arousals increase sympathetic activity, causing arrhythmias and cardiotoxicity⁴. Moreover, the periods of hyperventilation increase work of breathing⁴. This ventilatory control instability in patients with congestive heart failure can have several origins (illustrated in Figure 2).

1) The circulation time increases due to a decreased cardiac output in patients with congestive heart failure. Due to a prolonged circulation time, the detection of changes in $PaCO_2$ or PaO_2 in the blood by chemoreceptors is delayed ^{13;38}. This delayed detection results in an increased chemosensitivity, leading to an increased ventilatory response resulting in hypocapnia ^{6;11;13;21;38}. It is hypothesized that exposure to intermittent hypoxia results in an increased chemosensitivity as well¹³.

2) An increased exhalation gain could result in ventilatory control instability. An increased exhalation gain means that a small change in minute ventilation results in huge changes in $PaCO_2^{13;31}$. A decreased lung volume in patients with congestive heart failure due to pulmonary oedema increases the exhalation gain^{13;31;39}. 3) A narrow CO₂ reserve could cause ventilatory control instability, since the sleep eupneic CO₂ set point is then close to the apnoea threshold¹³. A narrow CO₂ reserve can be caused by chronic hyperventilation and/or hypocapnia, since this decreases the sleep eupneic CO₂ set point bringing it closer to the apnoea threshold³¹. When there is a narrow CO₂ reserve, small changes in PaCO₂ result in central apnoeas¹³. These central apnoeas result in a deteriorated gas exchange. When a narrow CO₂ reserve is combined with fluctuations in PaCO₂ due to an increased chemosensitivity and/or exhalation gain, this causes cycles of hypercapnia and hypocapnia induced central apnoeas¹³.

4) A decrease in tonic dilator muscle activity results, next to obstructive apnoeas, in central apnoeas as well. The negative pressure and the increased upper airway resistance can cause a ventilatory overshoot, resulting in hypocapnia and a central apnoea.¹³

5) Patients with CSA can suffer from sleep-wake instability, meaning that patients often have arousals. Normally the eupneic PaCO₂ set point is 3-8 mmHg higher during sleep compared to the awake state¹³. If a patient has an arousal, the ventilatory drive increases and the eupneic PaCO₂ decreases to the awake set point. When falling asleep again, the eupneic PaCO₂ set point crosses or approaches the appoent threshold, which is near the awake set point. This causes central appoeas and results in ventilatory instability. Patients with high chemosensitivity often suffer from more arousals¹³.

1.2.3 Potential effects of nHFT

It is hypothesised that nHFT will stabilise ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA, with or without Cheyne-Stokes respiration. There are several known working mechanisms of nHFT that might be responsible for this effect (illustrated in Figure 3).

The first working principle of nHFT is the generation of positive (upper) airway pressure by the given flow²⁶. The generated pressure is strongly related with the level of flow given³⁷. This pressure increases the mean lung volume by recruiting the lungs or upper airways^{4;25;31}, which decreases the exhalation gain ^{13;39}. This decreased exhalation gain makes ventilation more stable, since the magnitude of change in PaCO₂ will be less when minute ventilation changes. By preventing airway collapse by the generated pressure, work of breathing of respiratory muscles could be decreased^{4;34} and hypocapnia due to a ventilatory overshoot can be prevented¹³. Moreover, the created pressure could reduce the left ventricular afterload, which results in a decreased heart rate and prevents left ventricular remodelling^{4;6}. A difficulty using nHFT is that the delivered airway pressure cannot be controlled completely, since it depends not only on the flow rate, but also on the amount of leak and on the



Figure 2: Central sleep appoea in relation with congestive heart failure. LV = left ventricular.

relation between the nasal cannula and the nasopharyngeal anatomy $^{25;37}$. Therefore, it is important to analyse the delivered airway pressure for each flow rate 37 .

Secondly, the flow can reduce the inspiratory resistance, which reduces the related work of breathing $^{25;40}$.

Thirdly, oxygen addition stimulates the storage of oxygen in haemoglobin instead of carbon dioxide⁸. This ensures that more free carbon dioxide is in the arterial blood, rising the PaCO₂ levels above the apnoea threshold⁸. This reduces chemosensitivity and periods of apnoea^{4;31}. Moreover, oxygen addition reduces the amount of oxygen desaturations, which prevents oxidative stress, and prevents an increase in sympathetic activity and work of breathing due to hyperventilation in response to hypoxia⁸.

Fourthly, the applied flow may washout the nasopharyngeal dead space, improving oxygenation $^{25;33}$. Normally, air with high CO₂ and low O₂ levels remains in the anatomical dead space and is rebreathed at the beginning of the inspiration 33 . nHFT continuously flushes the nasopharyngeal dead space with air with low concentrations of CO₂, which washouts the air in the anatomical dead space 33 . A higher flow probably flushes the low CO₂ levels deeper in the nasal cavity and reduces the volume of inspired CO₂ up to $65\%^{33}$. The washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space improves the effectiveness of ventilation, since alveolar ventilation is a greater fraction of the minute ventilation 25 . This can decrease the respiratory rate $^{25;27;32;36}$. However, the degree of washout created by the flow depends on the size of the cannula in comparison to the nasopharyngeal anatomy 33 .

Finally, warmed and humidified gas is more comfortable for patients than dry and cold air, which might increase the compliance with the therapy and thereby the effectiveness^{25;32;37}. Moreover, it reduces the metabolic work associated with gas conditioning, it prevents bronchoconstriction due to cold air and it prevents a dry and irritating airway^{25;26;32}. Furthermore, the administration of warmed and humidified gas is associated with an increased clearance of secretions, less atelectasis and improved mucociliary function compared to cold and dry $air^{26;32}$.

Next to the expected advantages of nHFT, there are also possible disadvantages. For example, the high flow of



Figure 3: Potential effects of nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT).

air could give a ventilatory overshoot, promoting hyperventilation and thereby ventilatory instability²⁸. Furthermore, the pressure generated by the flow is not exactly known and depends on several variables. Therefore, the effectiveness of the therapy could not always be predicted, which makes the application of nHFT difficult³⁷. In addition, the washout of the anatomical dead space reduces the CO_2 level, which might induce apnoeas²⁷. Finally, the flow applied with nHFT is possibly too low to prevent apnoeas. In a previous study, the AHI did not change with the use of nHFT, since the apnoeas changed into hypopnoeas²⁸.

In summary, there are several expected advantages of nHFT, such as decreased work of breathing, increased lung volume, decreased left ventricular afterload and good compliance. However, there is also a possibility that patients do not benefit from nHFT, since its effect on decreasing apnoeas and hyperinflation is not known yet. Therefore, a pilot study is needed to investigate the effects of nHFT on patients with congestive heart failure and CSA.

1.3 Methods

1.3.1 Patient population

At the University Medical Center Groningen, ten patients with severe congestive heart failure (with a left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) below 45%) combined with a moderate to severe CSA (AHI≥15, with at least 50% central apnoeas) will be included in the study. Patients are excluded from the study when they are treated with CPAP or ASV, and when having other diseases affecting the breathing negatively, such as neuromuscular diseases, thoracic deformations and Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (COPD) stage III and IV according the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) guideline. Ethical approval is obtained (registered under the University Medical Center Groningen research register number 201700147) and informed consent will be retrieved from all patients. When writing this thesis, the study is on-going. So far, three patients have been included in the study. This thesis is written about the preliminary results of these three patients.

1.3.2 Study design

The study is an single-armed intervention pilot study to assess the effectiveness of nHFT for four weeks at home in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. A flow diagram of the study design can be found in Figure 4.

After patients were included in the study, they came to the hospital for a baseline visit. During the baseline visit complaints were evaluated, venous blood was taken to determine the N-terminal natriuretic peptide (NTproBNP), the six minute walk distance (6MWD) was determined and the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) and the Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire (FOSQ) were filled in. Additionally, a polysomnography (PSG) was performed, of which the sleep quality, AHI, and heart rate variability were assessed.

After the baseline visit, patients were hospitalised for a titration night in which nHFT was applied with different settings. During the titration night a PSG was performed, the pressure produced by nHFT was assessed by measuring the pharyngeal pressure (P_{pha}), work of breathing was assessed by measuring the oesophageal pressure (P_{es}) and the gastric pressure (P_{ga}), and neural breathing drive was measured using electromyography (EMG). The nHFT device called Soft-Flow 50[®] homecare system (TNI Medical AG, Wurzburg, Germany) was used in this study. First, measurements were performed with different SoftFlow 50[®] settings (0 L/min, 10 L/min, 20 L/min, 30 L/min and 40 L/min) while the patient was awake, during which the patients were asked to breath normally for 3 minutes with the mouth open and



flow diagram of the Figure 4: А study design. LVEF=Left ventricular ejection fraction. CSA=central AHI=apnoea hypopsleep apnoea. noea index. NTproBNP=natriuretic peptide. 6MWD=six minute walk distance. ESS=Epworth sleepiness scale. FOSQ=Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire. HRV=Heart rate variability

for 3 minutes with the mouth closed. Thereafter, the patients were asked to hold the breath for 10 seconds, to sigh and sniff three times, which could help to synchronise the data in the signal analysis phase. When the patients went to bed, nHFT was initially set to a flow rate of 10 L/min. When the patients were asleep, four different nHFT settings were applied during a period of 45-90 minutes, based on the individual expected length

Table 1: nHFT settings applied to the patient during titration night.

Moderate flow rate: 20 L/min without additional oxygen
High flow rate: $30-40$ L/min without additional oxygen
Moderate flow rate: 20 L/min with a FiO ₂ of 28%
High flow rate: 30-40 L/min with a FiO ₂ of 28%

Table 1. The different nHFT settings applied to the patients for a 45-90 minute period during the titration night. These different settings were applied to the patient in a randomised sequence. When a flow was applied to the patient without additional oxygen, the fractional inspired oxygen (FiO₂) was equal to 21%, compared with room air. An FiO₂ of 28% was reached by giving additional oxygen.

of sleep. The different nHFT settings can be found in Table 1. The sequence of the settings was randomised for each patient. When all settings were applied to the patients, nHFT was set to a zero flow rate without additional oxygen to measure a baseline. The nHFT setting reducing the amount of apnoea/hypopnoea events the most, was considered as the optimal setting.

After the titration night, the patients used nHFT with the optimal setting for four weeks at home. After one week the patients were contacted by the researcher to evaluate the treatment. After four weeks of treatment the patients came back to the hospital for the final visit. During this visit nHFT usability was evaluated, NT-proBNP and 6MWD were determined, and the questionnaires were addressed (ESS and FOSQ). Additionally, a PSG was performed and compliance with the therapy was assessed. The AHI before and after treatment were compared to assess the efficacy.

1.3.3 Measurement setup of titration night

The measurements and/or devices used during the titration night are described below.

1.3.3.1 SoftFlow 50[®]

The nHFT device used in this study, the SoftFlow $50^{\text{(B)}}$, is shown in Figure 5. A constant, humidified and warm flow, with or without oxygen, was applied to the patient via a nasal cannula. When using the SoftFlow $50^{\text{(B)}}$ it is important that the system is below head height, with at least a distance of 40 cm to the floor or wall and a distance of 80 cm to other electrical devices⁴¹.



Figure 5: The nasal high-flow therapy device SoftFlow 50[®] homecare system used in the study.

1.3.3.2 Polysomnography

PSG was used to monitor patients overnight and to select the best nHFT setting for each patient. A previous study suggested that the therapy could be more successful and less harmful when patients with congestive heart failure and CSA are initiated under PSG monitoring¹⁰. Normally, a PSG includes an electroencephalogram (EEG) of the brain, oxygen saturation measures at the finger, heart rate variability measures using the electrocardiogram (ECG), measurements of inspiratory airflow with a separate nasal pillow device, measurements of chest and abdominal movements with body plethysmography and measurements of movements of the legs, eyes and chin with EMG.

The EEG and the legs, eyes and chin movements were used to determine sleep stages, sleep quality, total sleep time, sleep efficiency, sleep latency, hours of REM sleep and periodic limb movement.

To detect appoeas and hypopnoeas, oxygen saturation, measurements of the chest and abdominal movements, and inspiratory airflow were used. The sleep technician scoring the appoeas and hypopnoeas was blinded to the ventilator settings and subjective evaluation. The AHI was scored on basis of the 2012 American Academy of Sleep Medicine rules^{42;43}. An appoea was detected when there was a drop in airflow of at least 90% of the preevent baseline for at least 10 seconds, measured by the nasal pillow device⁴². A central appoea was distinguished from an obstructive appoea with the use of the chest and abdominal movements, reflecting respiratory effort. A central appoea was detected when there was an absence of airflow without chest and abdominal movements; and an obstructive appoea was detected when there was an absence of airflow with chest and abdominal movements (see Figure 6). A hypopnoea was detected when there was a decrease of airflow of at least 30% of the preevent baseline measured by the nasal device for at least 10 seconds, followed by an oxygen desaturation of at least 3% compared to the pre-event baseline⁴². A respiratory event was scored as Cheyne-Stokes respiration when there



Figure 6: Central approved versus obstructive approved. In both cases there is an absence of airflow and there is an oxygen saturation drop. With a central approved there are no diaphragmatic excursions and with obstructive approved there is. The diaphragmatic excursions are equal to chest and abdominal movements⁴⁴.

were three consecutive central approach and/or central hypophoeas, separated by a crescendo and decrescendo change in breathing amplitude, which took at least 40 seconds⁴². Moreover, when someone is diagnosed with Cheyne-Stokes respiration, the patient must have at least 5 cycles of Cheyne-Stokes breathing per hour⁴². An example of a Cheyne-Stokes breathing pattern is shown in Figure 7.

The ECG was used to determine heart rate variability (HRV). HRV is the variation of time intervals between heartbeats, reflecting the function of the autonomic nerve system that controls the heart rate⁴⁶. The effect of different nHFT settings on HRV was assessed. In previous research, the use of CPAP has shown to decrease HRV, despite its beneficial effects on sympathetic overactivation⁴⁷. This was probably due to a more stable breathing, since the breathing rate and depth also influences HRV⁴⁷. A similar effect of the nHFT on HRV was expected.



Figure 7: An example of a normal breathing pattern versus a Cheyne-Stokes breathing pattern⁴⁵.

1.3.3.3 Pharyngeal pressure

The P_{pha} was measured to analyse whether nHFT was able to generate a positive (upper) airway pressure. The P_{pha} was measured by a feeding catheter (3.5 French, equally to 1.17 mm) for premature infants with two holes at the distal end, connected to a pressure transducer. The feeding catheter was introduced proximally in the pharynx through the nose. The pharyngeal pressure signal was recorded with the Dipha-16[®] (DEMCON macawi respiratory systems, Eindhoven, the Netherlands), a battery powered amplifier, which sent the data to a laptop via an USB dongle⁴⁸. The sample frequency was 500 Hz.

1.3.3.4 Oesophageal and gastric pressure

The P_{es} and P_{ga} were measured to determine work of breathing. Previous studies showed that nHFT could reduce work of breathing by the flow and created $P_{pha}^{29;36;40;49}$. The work of breathing was determined to analyse the influence of the different nHFT settings on work of breathing. The work of breathing was calculated using transdiaphragmatic pressure (P_{di}), which is the pressure that the diaphragm creates to initiate a breathing. The P_{di} was calculated by subtracting P_{ga} from P_{es} . The P_{ga} and P_{es} were measured by two balloon catheters connected to pressure transducers, which were introduced through the nose into the oesophagus and the stomach under local anaesthesia in the nose (lidocain spray 1%)⁵⁰. The oesophagus catheter was placed at the distal third of the oesophagus to obtain a signal without cardiac artefacts⁴⁹. Both P_{es} and P_{ga} signals were recorded with the Dipha-16[®] with a sample frequency of 500 Hz as well.

1.3.3.5 Electromyography signals

EMG signals were derived from respiratory muscles in order to measure neural breathing drive. The influence of the different nHFT settings on neural breathing drive was analysed. EMG signals were measured from the intercostal muscles and frontal diaphragm using transcutaneous electrodes (Inbiolab, Groningen, the Netherlands)⁴⁸. Only EMG signals from the frontal diaphragm and intercostal muscles were measured, since these signals contain less movement artefacts and better muscle activity compared to other respiratory muscles, such as the scalene muscles⁴⁸. Two electrodes were bilaterally placed at the costal margin in the nipple line to measure the activity of the frontal diaphragm and two electrodes were placed bilaterally in the second intercostal space, about 3 cm parasternal, to measure the activity of the intercostal muscles⁴⁸. A common ground electrode was placed on the sternum⁴⁸. The EMG signals were recorded with the Dipha-16[®] with a sample frequency of 500 Hz as well.

1.3.4 Data analysis

1.3.4.1 Data recording and synchronisation

The EMG, P_{es} , P_{ga} and P_{pha} signals were recorded using Polybench[®] data-acquisition package (Applied Biosignals GMBH, Weener, Germany). PSG data were recorded using BrainRT[®]Shell+ (OSG, Rumst, Belgium). Both data recorded with Polybench[®] and BrainRT[®] were loaded in Matlab[®] (v. R2016a, the Mathworks, Natick, Massachusetts, United States), in which further signal processing was conducted.

A few steps were taken to synchronise the data recorded with Polybench[®] and BrainRT[®]. First, the starting time difference between the two measurements was corrected to synchronise the data roughly. Thereafter, the data were synchronised more exactly by using the manoeuvres (holding the breath, sighing and sniffing) which could be found in both measurements. To check whether the synchronisation succeeded, it was verified whether the heart activity measured with the EMG was synchronised with the ECG measurement of the PSG. If not, the synchronisation was corrected by synchronising the pattern of the R-R intervals between successive R-peaks of both the heart activity measured with the EMG and the ECG signal of the PSG. The calculation of the R-R intervals is outlined in section 1.3.4.6.

1.3.4.2 AHI per nHFT setting

The AHI per nHFT setting was estimated by counting the amount of apnoea/hypopnoea events during a 30minutes period and multiplying it by two. Each 30-minute segment was during non-REM sleep. Paired sample t-tests were performed to test for differences in AHI between nHFT settings. The assumption of normality was checked with the Shapiro-Wilk test. A 2-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) statistical test was used to test whether 1) there was a significant interaction between the nHFT flow rate and oxygen addition on AHI, 2) nHFT flow rate and oxygen addition has a significant effect on AHI. A significance level of 5% was used. SPSS Statistics[®] (version 24.0, IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, United States) was used for all analysis.

1.3.4.3 Relationship of delivered flow and the pharyngeal pressure

To analyse the relation between the delivered flow and P_{pha} , the data from the measurements with different nHFT flow rates, while the patients were awake, were used. From each flow setting, the 3-minute period with the mouth open and mouth closed were used for the analysis. The influence of the mouth open and mouth closed was analysed, since previous research showed that the openness of the mouth has a big influence on the pressures reached in the airway and the pharynx²⁶. After the data selection, the signals were pre-processed to remove



Figure 8: Detection of the pharyngeal pressure amplitude (ΔP_{pha}). I_{on} is the start of inspiration and I_{off} is the end of inspiration.

the drift. The low frequencies of the P_{pha} signal were filtered with a fourth order Butterworth high-pass filter

with a cut-off frequency of 0.1 Hz. The start of inspiration (I_{on}) and end of inspiration (I_{off}) of each breath were estimated by detecting the most negative and positive peaks using the *findpeaks* function in Matlab[®]. The minimal peak distance between two consecutive breaths was empirically estimated. The amplitude of each breath (ΔP_{pha}) was considered as the difference in P_{pha} between I_{on} and I_{off} , as shown in Figure 8. Breaths with an ΔP_{pha} twice the average ΔP_{pha} were not included in the analysis. The average ΔP_{pha} was calculated for each setting, with the mouth open and mouth closed.

1.3.4.4 Assessment of work of breathing per nHFT setting

For each nHFT setting, a 5-minute period in both REM (when present) and non-REM sleep without artefacts was selected. First, the low frequencies were filtered from both P_{es} and P_{ga} signals with a fourth order Butterworth high-pass filter with a cut-off frequency of 0.1 Hz in order to remove the drift. Thereafter, the P_{di} was calculated using the following equation:

$$P_{di} = P_{ga} - P_{es} \tag{1}$$

For each breath, the change of P_{di} from baseline to peak (ΔP_{di}) was calculated (shown in Figure 9C), since the ΔP_{di} reflects the inspiratory effort of the diaphragm.

The pressure-rate product (PRP) and pressure-time product (PTP), which are measures of work of breathing, were calculated thereafter^{36;49}. The PRP was calculated by multiplying the change in P_{es} (ΔP_{es} in Figure 9A) with the respiratory rate (RR)³⁶. The P_{es} is a surrogate for pleural pressure or the pressure required to distend the lung and the chest wall³⁶.

$$PRP = \Delta P_{es} * RR \tag{2}$$

The RR was determined by calculating the amount of breaths per minute.

The PTP quantifies inspiratory effort of the muscles. The PTP of the diaphragm was calculated using the following equation 49 :

$$PTP = \int_{t_{on}}^{t_{off}} P_{di} * RR \tag{3}$$

in which t_{on} is the beginning of inspiration and t_{off} the end of inspiration. t_{on} and t_{off} were determined by the start and end of the inspiratory flow, which are equal to the points where the flow was zero (as shown in Figure 9B). Prior to determining these zero-crossings, the flow signal, measured with the nasal pillow device, was resampled from 32 Hz to 500 Hz. This provided a more accurate detection of the zero-crossings.

The average work of breathing (ΔP_{di} , PRP and PTP) was calculated for each setting through these parameters.



Figure 9: Analysis of work of breathing. **A.** Calculation of the amplitude of the oesophageal pressure (ΔP_{es}) , ranging from the maximal point to the minimal point. **B.** Determining the beginning of inspiration (t_{on}) and the end of inspiration (t_{off}) from the flow signal. The inspiration time (T_i) was considered as the time between t_{on} and t_{off} and the expiration time (T_e) was considered as the time between t_{on} and the integral of the transdiaphragmatic pressure (ΔP_{di}) . The $\int P_{di}$ was calculated from t_{on} to t_{off} . The ΔP_{di} was considered as the difference in P_{di} between t_{on} and the maximal peak.

1.3.4.5 Assessment of neural breathing drive per nHFT setting

The selected data used to assess work of breathing were also used to assess neural breathing drive. The EMG signals from the frontal diaphragm (EMGdi) were used for this analysis. The electrical heart activity was removed from the EMGdi using fixed sample entropy analysis $(EMGdi_{fse})$, a non-linear method to analyse non-stationary biomedical signals. This method is less sensitive to electrical heart activity compared to other conventional methods, such as the root mean square value⁵¹. Based on previous studies^{51;52}, the moving window was set to 1 second, the embedding dimension was set to 1, the step size was set to 0.1 times the window size and the fixed tolerance value was set to 0.3 times the standard deviation of the signal.

Thereafter, the neural onset (nt_{on}) and neural offset (nt_{off}) were determined for each breath (see Figure 10). First, the maximal peak of each breath was selected by using the function *findpeaks* in Matlab[®]. When the EMGdi_{fse} was noisy, and the difference between noise and breathing signal was small, peaks in the EMGdi_{fse} corresponding to a peak in the P_{es} signal were considered as breaths only. The maximal peak of each breath was then selected by determining each peak in the pre-processed P_{es} signal and selecting the corresponding EMGdi_{fse} peak. The maximal deviation between the corresponding EMGdi_{fse} peak and the peak in the P_{es} signal was set to 1 second.

A dynamic threshold was used for determining nt_{on} . The dynamic threshold was considered as the maximal peak in the amplitude distribution between two consecutive peaks⁵³. This maximal peak in the amplitude distribution was considered as the baseline $EMGdi_{fse}$ level when there is no breathing. When the $EMGdi_{fse}$ level crosses the threshold for the last time before a breathing peak, it was considered as the nt_{on} . The kernel density estimation (KDE) method, a nonparametric method that estimates the probability density function, was used to calculate the amplitude distribution⁵³.

The nt_{off} was considered as the point where the EMGdi_{fse} has decreased to 70% of its maximal peak value, as shown in Figure 10C^{53;54}.

Several neural breathing drive parameters were derived from the EMGdi_{fse}. The area under the curve of the EMGdi_{fse} (AUC_{EMG}) was calculated for each breath from nt_{on} to nt_{on} of the consecutive breath (AUC_{EMG1}) and from nt_{on} to nt_{off} (AUC_{EMG2}), multiplied by the RR. Only the AUC_{EMG1} is shown in Figure 10C. The amplitude of the EMGdi_{fse} (amp in Figure 10C) was calculated as the difference between nt_{on} and the maximal peak, multiplied by the RR. Finally, the neural inspiration time (T_i) was considered as the time between nt_{on} and nt_{off} and the neural expiration time (T_e) was considered as the time between nt_{off} and nt_{on} of the consecutive peak.



Figure 10: Neural breathing drive analysis⁵³. **A.** The area between two consecutive peaks from which the amplitude distribution is determined. **B.** The amplitude distribution, calculated with the kernel density estimation method. The highest peak was considered as the dynamic threshold. **C.** The neural breathing drive parameters determined for each breath. The nt_{on} is the neural onset, determined with the dynamic threshold. The nt_{off} is the neural offset at 70% of the maximal peak height. The area under the curve of the EMGdi_{fse} (AUC_{EMG}) was determined from nt_{on} to nt_{on} of the consecutive peak. The amplitude (amp) of the EMGdi_{fse} was calculated as the difference between nt_{on} and the maximal peak. The neural inspiration time (T_i) was considered as the time between nt_{on} and nt_{off}. The neural expiration time (T_e) was considered as the time between nt_{on} and nt_{off}.

1.3.4.6 Assessment of heart rate variability per nHFT setting

The total length of the ECG signal during each nHFT setting was used to determine HRV for each setting. The time intervals between heart beats (R-R interval) were determined by calculating the time between two consecutive R-peaks (illustrated in Figure 11). The R-peak from each heart beat was detected using the *findpeaks* function in Matlab[®]. Thereafter, two time domain HRV features (SDNN, RMSSD) were determined, of which a



Figure 11: An example of an R-R interval⁵⁵.

description and/or calculation can be found in Table 2⁵⁶. The SDNN reflects the variation in the R-R intervals, which gives insight into the total power in the R-R interval frequency spectrum ⁴⁶. The RMSSD reflects the higher frequency variations in the R-R intervals, which decreases when there is less parasympathetic activity ⁴⁶. Consequently, five frequency domain HRV features (VLF, LF, HF, total power and the LF/HF ratio) were determined, of which a description can be found in Table 2 as well ⁵⁷. In order to calculate the frequency domain HRV features, the successive R-R intervals were resampled at 4 Hz using a cubic spline interpolation. Thereafter, the power spectral density of the resampled signal was calculated using the function *periodogram* in Matlab[®]. The power spectral density in three different frequency bands (VLF, LF and HF), the total power and the LF/HF ratio were calculated, as shown in Table 2. Different frequency bands reflect different (patho)physiological mechanisms. The LF component reflects mainly the sympathetic activity that controls the heart rate and maintains the blood pressure ^{46;57}. The HF component reflects the parasympathetic control of the heart rate that influences the respiratory sinus arrhythmia ⁴⁶. The VLF component is higher in patients with congestive heart failure ⁵⁷. When the LF/HF ratio is higher, the sympathetic activity is predominant ⁵⁷.

Table 2:	Heart	rate	variability	features.
----------	-------	------	-------------	-----------

SDNN	Standard deviation of the successive normal sinus R-R intervals.
RMSSD	Root-mean-square of the successive normal sinus R-R intervals.
VLF	Very low frequency (f<0.04 Hz) power per minute.
LF	Low frequency (f>0.04 Hz and f<0.2 Hz) power per minute.
HF	High frequency ($f>0.2$ Hz and $f<1$ Hz) power per minute.
Total power	Average power $(VLF + LF + HF)$ per minute.
LF/HF ratio	The ratio of the normalised LF power to the normalised HF power.

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Tolerance and side effects

From the three patients included in the study so far, the first and third patient dropped out because of noncompliance. The second patient finished the study, but did not decide to continue nHFT afterwards. The first and second patient reported a running nose and nose irritation. Furthermore, the nasal cannula was too large, the light of the device continued to burn, and the device was noisy. No dry throat was reported. After evaluating the complaints of the first two patients, there was decided to use a smaller nasal cannula and to set the humidity between 34-37 °DP to avoid nose irritation. The third patient used nHFT only for two nights due to short of breathing and too high flow rates. No nose irritation and complaints about the nasal cannula were reported. Table 3 shows the compliance with the therapy during the four weeks at home for the second

Table 3: Compliance with the therapy.

	Compliance	Average use
	(%)	$(h \cdot day^{-1})$
1st patient	85	7.09
2nd patient	71	6.18

patient. The compliance of the first patient with the therapy, during the three weeks he used the therapy at home, is shown as well. On average, the SoftFlow $50^{\text{(B)}}$ was used 78% of the days, with an average using time of 6.64 hours.

1.4.2 Effectiveness of nHFT

Table 4 shows the AHI, NTproBNP, 6MWD, ESS and FOSQ before and after nHFT for the second patient. The AHI improved with nHFT. From the apnoea/hypopnoea events detected, 94% were apnoeas and 6% were hypopnoeas during the measurements at T0, and 39% were apnoeas and 61% were hypopnoeas during the measurements at T3. The ESS and FOSQ showed contradicting and inconclusive results. Furthermore, both the NTproBNP and the 6MWD were slightly higher during nHFT.

Table 4: Parameters	change after	nasal high-flow	therapy.
---------------------	--------------	-----------------	----------

	T0	T3
AHI (events/hour)	30	12
NTproBNP (ng/L)	1726	1837
6MWD (m)	400	440
ESS(0-24)	7	5
FOSQ (0-120)	118	109

Table 4. AHI=apnoea hypopnoea index. NTproBNP=N-terminal natriuretic peptide. 6MWD=Six minute walk distance. ESS=Epworth Sleepiness Scale. FOSQ=Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire. The ESS has a range from 0 to 24, in which a lower score means less sleepiness problems. The FOSQ has a range from 0 to 120, in which a higher score means less impact of sleepiness on functional outcomes.

1.4.3 AHI per nHFT setting during titration night

Figure 12 shows the AHI per nHFT setting for each patient. Since all three patients finished the titration night, the results of all patients are shown. The lowest AHI levels were reached with the addition of oxygen for all patients. The effect of oxygen addition on AHI was significant (p=0.046). When looking more specific, oxygen addition showed only significant difference in AHI when the flow rate was 30 L/min (p=0.025). A moderate or high flow rate without the addition of oxygen did not decrease AHI below 10 events/hour. A higher nHFT flow rate did also not have a significant effect on AHI (p=0.258). There was no significant interaction between the nHFT flow rate and oxygen addition on AHI (p=0.635).



Figure 12: The apnoea hypopnoea index (AHI) per nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) setting. The nHFT setting is on the x-axis and AHI is on the y-axis. Each line represents the results of one patient. The red dots indicate that during that setting the patient was barely asleep, which gives most likely an undervaluation of AHI. The blue dots indicate the setting which is chosen as the optimal setting for that patient in decreasing AHI. The * means that the difference in AHI between those two settings was significant (p=0.025).

In Table 5, additional parameters (AHI, sleep stage and mouth openness) during each nHFT setting are shown for each patient. Patient 1 slept the whole night with the mouth open and patient 2 slept the whole night with the mouth closed. Patient 3 slept almost the whole night with the mouth open. Patient 1 and 2 did not have any periods of REM sleep during the titration night. Patient 3 had only a REM period at the end of the night, when the flow rate was 0 L/min.

1.4.4 Relationship of delivered flow rate and pharyngeal pressure

Figure 13 shows the relationship between the nHFT flow rate and the ΔP_{pha} , for both mouth open and mouth closed. The ΔP_{pha} with the mouth closed was higher compared to the ΔP_{pha} with the mouth open for every flow rate. The pressures measured with both the mouth open and mouth closed were negligible, since all pressures were close to zero.

1.4.5 Assessment of work of breathing per nHFT setting during titration night

Figure 14 shows the ΔP_{di} , PRP, PTP and RR during each nHFT setting for the first two patients. The data of patient 3 were missing, since he did not tolerate the balloon catheters. The ΔP_{di} , PRP and PTP were higher in patient 2 compared to patient 1. For both patients, the ΔP_{di} remained around the same level during most nHFT settings, as shown in Figure 14A. Only the setting with a flow rate of 20 L/min with additional oxygen showed an increased ΔP_{di} for patient 1 and a decreased ΔP_{di} for patient 2.

The PRP was comparable to the PTP (see Figure 14B&C). For patient 1, the PRP and PTP remained around

Table 5: Additional parameters during each nHFT setting for each patient. AHI = apnoea hypopnoea index. The percentage of each sleep stage during each nHFT setting was determined.

1st patient	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
AHI	34	34	6	32	10
Awake (%)	48	50	53	21	21
Light sleep (%)	52	43	47	79	56
Deep sleep (%)	0	7	0	0	23
REM sleep $(\%)$	0	0	0	0	0
Mouth openness	open	open	open	open	open
2nd patient	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
AHI	38	22	10	38	24
Awake (%)	8	21	9	0	32
Light sleep $(\%)$	85	79	12	81	68
Deep sleep $(\%)$	7	0	79	19	0
REM sleep $(\%)$	0	0	0	0	0
Mouth openness	closed	closed	closed	closed	closed
3rd patient	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
AHI	15	23	10	27	13
Awake (%)	29	17	36	5	37
Light sleep $(\%)$	57	52	64	66	63
Deep sleep $(\%)$	4	30	0	29	0
REM sleep $(\%)$	10	0	0	0	0
Mouth openness	open	open and closed	open and closed	open	open



Figure 13: The relationship between the delivered flow by nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) and the amplitude of the pharyngeal pressure (ΔP_{pha}), for both mouth open (the blue line) and mouth closed (the dashed red line). The nHFT flow rate is on the x-axis and the average ΔP_{pha} is on the y-axis. The vertical lines indicate the spread between patients.

the same level for each nHFT setting. For patient 2, the PRP and PTP decreased with a higher nHFT flow rate.

The RR was variable between the different settings for both patients, as shown in Figure 14D. For patient 1, the



Figure 14: Several work of breathing parameters during each nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) setting for two patients (differentiated with different lines). **A.** The average amplitude of the transdiaphragmatic pressure (ΔP_{di}) during each nHFT setting, indicated with a dot. The vertical lines show the standard deviation. **B.** The pressure-rate product (PRP) during each nHFT setting, indicated with a dot. The vertical lines show the standard deviation. **C.** The average pressure-time product (PTP) during each nHFT setting, indicated with a dot. The vertical with a dot. The vertical lines show the standard deviation. **D.** The respiratory rate (RR) during each nHFT setting.

RR during the setting with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 20 L/min was lower compared to the other settings. For patient 2, the RR was lower with a flow rate of 30 L/min compared to the settings with a flow rate of 0 L/min and 20 L/min.

1.4.6 Assessment of neural breathing drive per nHFT setting during titration night

Figure 15 shows the average AUC_{EMG} from nt_{on} to nt_{on} of the consecutive peak (AUC_{EMG1}), the average AUC_{EMG} from nt_{on} to nt_{off} (AUC_{EMG2}), and the average amplitude during each nHFT setting. For patient 1, both AUC_{EMG1} and AUC_{EMG2} increased with a higher flow rate and decreased slightly with the setting providing a flow rate of 30 L/min with additional oxygen. The average amplitude for patient 1 fluctuated, but showed an increasing trend with a higher flow rate. However, the results of patient 1 are not reliable, since the EMG signals of patient 1 were noisy, which made the analysis difficult to perform.

For patient 2, the average AUC_{EMG2} and average amplitude decreased with a higher flow rate and were slightly higher with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 30 L/min. The average AUC_{EMG1} for patient 2 was lower with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 20 L/min and a flow rate of 30 L/min, and was higher with a flow rate of 30 L/min with additional oxygen.

For patient 3, the average AUC_{EMG1} , the average AUC_{EMG2} , and the average amplitude were lower with the settings with additional oxygen. Furthermore, the neural breathing drive parameters were all lower with a flow rate of 30 L/min than with a flow rate of 20 L/min.

The average inspiratory and expiratory time during each nHFT setting for all patients are shown in Table 6. For patient 1, the inspiratory time was higher when additional oxygen was given. The expiratory time was higher



Figure 15: Neural breathing drive parameters during each nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) setting for all patients (differentiated with different lines). **A.** The average area under the curve of the EMGdi_{fse} (AUC_{EMG}) from the neural onset (nt_{on}) to nt_{on} of the consecutive breath (AUC_{EMG1}). **B.** The average AUC_{EMG} from nt_{on} to the neural offset (nt_{off}) (AUC_{EMG2}). **C.** The average amplitude.

Table 6: Inspiratory (T_i) and expiratory (T_e) time per nasal high-flow therapy setting for all patients.

$T_i - T_e (s)$	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
1st patient	0.92 - 3.20	0.84 - 3.74	2.05 - 6.55	1.05 - 3.04	1.34 - 2.31
2nd patient	2.16 - 3.40	2.19 - 4.11	1.26 - 3.43	1.56 - 5.95	1.90 - 5.20
3rd patient	1.70 - 2.29	1.27 - 1.80	1.03 - 2.08	1.12 - 1.97	1.36 - 2.60

with a flow rate of 20 L/min with and without additional oxygen and was lower with a flow rate of 30 L/min. For patient 2, the inspiratory time decreased with a higher flow rate and the expiratory time increased with a higher flow rate. For patient 3, the inspiratory and expiratory time were comparable for all nHFT settings.

1.4.7 Assessment of heart rate variability per nHFT setting during titration night

Table 7 shows the HRV features during each nHFT setting for patient 2 and 3. HRV analysis could not be performed for patient 1 due to noisy ECG signals.

For patient 2, the SDNN, reflecting the variation in R-R intervals, was higher with the settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min and 30 L/min with additional oxygen. More high frequency variations were present in the R-R intervals with the settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min and 30 L/min with additional oxygen, reflected by a higher RMSSD and a higher power in the HF frequency band. The total power was higher with these settings as well. A higher power in the VLF frequency band and LF frequency band was present with the setting with

2nd patient	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
SDNN (s)	0.37	0.42	0.37	0.33	0.46
RMSSD (s)	0.53	0.60	0.53	0.47	0.63
VLF (s^{2*60}/Hz)	4.48	12.20	3.67	4.62	46.36
LF (s^2*60/Hz)	13.03	25.15	12.07	18.03	44.26
HF $(s^{2*}60/Hz)$	30.95	47.74	30.34	24.52	42.62
Total power $(s^{2*}60/Hz)$	48.46	94.37	46.06	47.17	133.24
LF/HF ratio	0.42	0.72	0.40	0.74	1.04
3rd patient	0 L/min	20 L/min	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$	30 L/min	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$
3rd patient SDNN (s)	0 L/min 0.24	20 L/min 0.27	$20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$ 0.20	30 L/min 0.23	$30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2$ 0.25
3rd patient SDNN (s) RMSSD (s)	0 L/min 0.24 0.29	20 L/min 0.27 0.36	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.29 \end{array}$	30 L/min 0.23 0.30	$\begin{array}{c} 30 \ \text{L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.25 \\ 0.34 \end{array}$
3rd patientSDNN (s)RMSSD (s)VLF (s²*60/Hz)	0 L/min 0.24 0.29 2.06	20 L/min 0.27 0.36 5.88	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.78 \end{array}$	30 L/min 0.23 0.30 0.86	$\begin{array}{c} 30 \ \text{L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.25 \\ 0.34 \\ 3.37 \end{array}$
3rd patient SDNN (s) RMSSD (s) VLF (s ^{2*60} /Hz) LF (s ^{2*60} /Hz)	0 L/min 0.24 0.29 2.06 5.66	20 L/min 0.27 0.36 5.88 10.17	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.78 \\ 2.43 \end{array}$	30 L/min 0.23 0.30 0.86 4.43	$\begin{array}{c} 30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.25 \\ 0.34 \\ 3.37 \\ 3.82 \end{array}$
3rd patient SDNN (s) RMSSD (s) VLF (s ² *60/Hz) LF (s ² *60/Hz) HF (s ² *60/Hz)	0 L/min 0.24 0.29 2.06 5.66 10.45	20 L/min 0.27 0.36 5.88 10.17 16.48	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.78 \\ 2.43 \\ 7.70 \end{array}$	30 L/min 0.23 0.30 0.86 4.43 12.36	$\begin{array}{c} 30 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.25 \\ 0.34 \\ 3.37 \\ 3.82 \\ 9.08 \end{array}$
3rd patient SDNN (s) RMSSD (s) VLF (s ² *60/Hz) LF (s ² *60/Hz) HF (s ² *60/Hz) Total power (s ² *60/Hz)	0 L/min 0.24 0.29 2.06 5.66 10.45 18.17	20 L/min 0.27 0.36 5.88 10.17 16.48 32.53	$\begin{array}{c} 20 \text{ L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.20 \\ 0.29 \\ 0.78 \\ 2.43 \\ 7.70 \\ 10.92 \end{array}$	30 L/min 0.23 0.30 0.86 4.43 12.36 17.66	$\begin{array}{c} 30 \ \text{L/min} + \text{O}_2 \\ 0.25 \\ 0.34 \\ 3.37 \\ 3.82 \\ 9.08 \\ 16.27 \end{array}$

Table 7: Heart rate variability parameters per nasal high-flow therapy setting for patient 2 and 3.

an oxygen enriched flow rate of 30 L/min. Sympathetic activity was predominant with the settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min, 30 L/min and 30 L/min with additional oxygen, reflected by a higher LF/HF ratio. For patient 3, all HRV features were higher with the setting with a flow rate of 20 L/min. Additionally, the SDNN, reflecting the variation in R-R intervals, was lower with the setting with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 20 L/min. The power in the VLF frequency band was lower with the settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min with additional oxygen and 30 L/min. The sympathetic activity was more predominant with the setting with a flow rate of 0 L/min, reflected by a higher LF/HF ratio.

1.5 Discussion

The first aim of this study was to analyse whether ventilation of patients with congestive heart failure and moderate to severe CSA could be stabilised by applying nHFT for four weeks during the night. The preliminary results of one patient, showing a decreased AHI after nHFT, gives indications that applying nHFT for four weeks during the night makes ventilation more stable in these patients.

The second aim of the study was to investigate what the mechanisms of action are of nHFT on patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. Especially oxygen addition reduced AHI. An increase of the pharyngeal pressure with a higher nHFT flow rate was not measured. Work of breathing reduced with a higher flow rate in one patient. Furthermore, nHFT reduced the neural breathing drive, but did not influence HRV.

The third research question of the study was to analyse how the optimal nHFT setting reducing AHI in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA could be determined during the titration night. Since the titration nights were not representative for a normal night due to low sleep efficacy, this question could not be answered.

These preliminary results are further discussed in the subsections below. Thereafter, limitations of the study and directions for future research are given.

1.5.1 Effectiveness of nHFT in stabilising ventilation

The AHI decreased in the only patient who has finished the study so far. This indicates that nHFT might stabilise ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CHF. However, AHI has substantial night-tonight variations⁵⁸. So, more patients need to be measured to confirm the effectiveness of nHFT reducing AHI. A previous study showed that AHI did not change with nHFT in patients with OSA, since the apnoeas changed into hypopnoeas²⁸. In our patient, less apnoeas and more hypopnoeas were measured as well after nHFT, which indicates that nHFT indeed could change apnoeas into hypopnoeas. More patients are needed to confirm this as well.

1.5.2 Mechanisms of action of nHFT

The expected mechanisms of action of nHFT were outlined in section 1.1 and 1.2. Each expected mechanism of action is discussed in the paragraphs below.

1.5.2.1 Generation of positive (upper) airway pressure

It was expected that nHFT would generate a positive (upper) airway pressure²⁶, which stabilises ventilation¹³, decreases work of breathing^{4;34} and prevents left ventricular remodelling^{4;6}. In this subsection it is discussed whether nHFT was able to generate a positive (upper) airway pressure, and whether it was able to stabilise ventilation by this created pressure. The influence of nHFT on work of breathing is discussed in subsection 1.5.2.2 and its influence on the heart is discussed in subsection 1.5.2.7.

Generation of positive (upper) airway pressure

The P_{pha} was measured to analyse whether nHFT was able to generate a positive (upper) airway pressure. The measured P_{pha} was negligible, indicating that nHFT was not able to generate a positive (upper) airway pressure. A previous study ⁵⁹ showed an average pressure of 1.93 cm H₂O with a flow rate of 30 L/min. Physiologically, the pressures measured in this previous study are more reasonable than the pressures measured in this study. The results might be lower than expected due to a leak of flow. However, since the P_{pha} measured with the mouth closed was negligible as well and the researchers did not hear any leak, this is not likely. Moreover, the production of saliva might have blocked the two holes at the distal end of the catheter, which might have induced a wrong measurement of P_{pha} .

To analyse whether the production of saliva blocked the distal end of the catheter, the feeding catheter (3.5 French) and the SoftFlow $50^{\textcircled{R}}$ were introduced to one healthy subject. Different SoftFlow $50^{\textcircled{R}}$ settings (0 L/min,

10 L/min, 20 L/min, 30 L/min and 40 L/min) were applied while the healthy subject was awake, during which the healthy subject was breathing normally for 1 minute with the mouth open and 1 minute with the mouth closed. To prevent occlusion of the catheter by saliva during the measurements, the feeding catheter was flushed with 4 ml of air every 5 minutes and after the healthy subject swallowed. During the measurements, the real time P_{pha} showed a decreased amplitude after the healthy subject swallowed, indicating that indeed the production of saliva can obstruct the catheter. The relationship between the nHFT flow rate and ΔP_{pha} for this healthy subject, for both the mouth open and mouth closed, is shown in Figure 16A. The ΔP_{pha} increased with



Figure 16: The relationship between the delivered flow rate by the nasal high-flow therapy (nHFT) and the amplitude of the pharyngeal pressure (ΔP_{pha}), for both the mouth open (the blue line) and mouth closed (the dashed red line), for a healthy subject. The nHFT flow rate is on the x-axis and the average ΔP_{pha} is on the y-axis.

both the mouth open and mouth closed, but increased faster with the mouth closed. With the mouth open, there is leakage of flow and therefore the ΔP_{pha} was lower. This is in agreement with previous studies^{26;59}. Since the ΔP_{pha} was higher with the mouth closed, this might has an effect on stabilising ventilation. Thus, if possible, patients should sleep with the mouth closed when using nHFT.

The measured pressures were slightly higher compared to a previous study (3.65 cm H₂O versus 1.93 ± 1.25 cm H₂O for a flow rate of 30 L/min)⁵⁹. A different nHFT device was used in the previous study (Optiflow[®] produced by Fisher & Paykel Healthcare), which might explain the different results. Both nHFT devices use a different nasal cannula. The size and shape of the nasal cannula influences the resistance^{25;37} and therefore might influence the pressure generated by the applied flow rate. Moreover, there is also variation between different persons, which might explain the difference as well.

The results of this healthy subject indicate that the ΔP_{pha} measured in the three patients were indeed lower due to saliva production, which obstructed the catheters. Therefore, it is likely that the ΔP_{pha} did increase with a higher flow rate in these patients, but it could not be measured. Airway collapse could be prevented when the ΔP_{pha} did increase with a higher nHFT flow rate.

It is recommended to apply a 20 ml/h airflow produced by a microinfusor at the inlet of the catheter to avoid occlusion of the catheter by secretions⁴⁰. This could be applied in the remaining seven patients that need to be included in the study. The data of these seven patients could be used to perform a linear regression analysis to analyse whether there is a linear relation between the flow rate and the ΔP_{pha} .

Stabilising ventilation by the created pressure

During the titration night, AHI did not decrease significantly when a moderate or high nHFT flow rate was applied without additional oxygen. This indicates that a flow rate alone, and thereby the generation of positive (upper) airway pressure by the given flow, does not reduce AHI. It was hypothesised that an increased positive (upper) airway pressure would increase mean lung volume^{4;25;31}, which decreases the exhalation gain¹³. These results indicate that either nHFT is not able to increase mean lung volume, or a decreased exhalation gain does

not reduce the amount of central approaces. However, since there were only three patients, the statistical results are not fully reliable. Therefore, a bigger sample size is required to reliably validate this result. Although, since the AHI did not decrease with a moderate or high flow rate without additional oxygen in these patients, it is not expected that the flow rate will significantly decrease AHI when more patients are included.

1.5.2.2 Reduction of inspiratory resistance and related work of breathing

It was expected that the nHFT flow rate would reduce inspiratory resistance, which reduces the related work of breathing^{25;40}. Additionally, by preventing an airway collapse by the creation of positive (upper) airway pressure, work of breathing could be reduced as well^{4;34}. In this section there is discussed whether nHFT was able to reduce both work of breathing and neural breathing drive.

Assessment of work of breathing per nHFT setting during titration night

PRP and PTP are measures of work of breathing, and previous research showed that nHFT could reduce work of breathing $^{29;36;40;49}$. In patient 2, work of breathing did indeed decrease with a higher nHFT flow rate. This indicates that a higher nHFT flow rate might reduce inspiratory resistance, since reduced inspiratory resistance is related with reduced work of breathing $^{25;40}$. Moreover, the generated pressure by the given flow could have prevented an airway collapse, which could also have decreased work of breathing $^{4;34}$. Patient 1 did not show a decreased work of breathing with a higher nHFT flow rate, which does not support the hypothesis that nHFT could reduce work of breathing. As discussed in section 1.5.2.1, the pressure created by the flow depends on the amount of leak through the mouth $^{25;37}$. Since patient 1 only slept with the mouth open, this might explain that the work of breathing did not decrease with a higher flow rate.

For both patients, the ΔP_{di} did not differ a lot between the different nHFT settings. The variation within the patients could be explained by the variation in the RR. For instance, the RR during the setting with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 20 L/min was the lowest for patient 1, while the ΔP_{di} during this setting was the highest. When the RR is lower, there is also more time to breath deeper, resulting in an increased transdiaphragmatic pressure. To assess work of breathing per breath, the RR must be taken into account. Therefore, conclusions according work of breathing during different settings must be taken from the PRP and PTP results and cannot be taken from the change in P_{di} without correcting for the influence of the RR.

Assessment of neural breathing drive per nHFT setting during titration night

The EMG signals of patient 1 were noisy, and the analysis of the neural breathing drive was therefore difficult to perform. Hence, the results of the neural breathing drive of the first patient are not reliable. For patient 1, the neural breathing drive increased with a higher flow rate and decreased with the setting with a flow rate of 30 L/min with additional oxygen. This is not expected, since the muscles should be more relaxed when they are supported by nHFT. For all patients, the EMG was applied in the same way and therefore this cannot explain the noisy EMG signals of patient 1. However, the Dipha- $16^{\text{(B)}}$ was not working optimally during the night for patient 1, since it stopped measuring every 6 minutes. Furthermore, one electrode on the frontal diaphragm disconnected during the night, which might explain the noisy EMG signals as well.

For patient 2, the average AUC_{EMG2} and average amplitude were comparable to the PTP (see Figures 15B&C and 14C). This is expected, since there is less neural breathing drive when the muscles need to perform less work of breathing. This also indicates that patient 2 could relax his muscles more during inspiration with a higher flow rate. The average AUC_{EMG1} does also include the work of the muscles between breaths, so including the expiration. The muscles were able to relax more between breaths with the settings with an oxygen enriched flow rate of 20 L/min and with a flow rate of 30 L/min. The setting with a flow rate of 30 L/min with additional oxygen did increase the work of the muscles between breaths. These results could not be explained. Possibly, cross-talk of the abdominal muscles contribute to the neural breathing drive measured during expiration. The cross-talk is especially expected with a higher nHFT flow rate, since more effort is needed to exhale against this flow rate. However, this could not explain the different results between the settings with a flow rate of 30

L/min with and without oxygen. More patients are needed to further analyse this.

For patient 3, all neural breathing drive parameters were lower with the settings with additional oxygen. Furthermore, the neural drive parameters were lower with the settings with a flow rate of 30 L/min compared to a flow rate of 20 L/min. This indicates that the patient could relax the muscles more with a higher flow rate and with additional oxygen.

The inspiratory time decreased and expiratory time increased with a higher flow rate for patient 2. A higher flow rate reduces the inspiratory resistance, which makes it easier for the patient to breath in ^{25;40}. Less time is needed to breath in with a higher flow rate and therefore the inspiratory time decreases. However, the continuous flow of nHFT increases the expiratory resistance, since the patient needs to exhale against this flow rate. Therefore, more expiratory time is needed to overcome this increased expiratory resistance. However, the results of the inspiratory time and the expiratory time of patient 1 were contradicting: the expiratory time decreased and the inspiratory time increased with a higher flow rate. This was not expected, since the inspiratory resistance decreases and the expiratory resistance increases with a higher flow rate. However, since the signals of patient 1 were noisy, these results are not reliable as well. The different settings did not change the inspiratory time in patient 3, indicating that the settings did not influence the inspiratory and expiratory time in this patient.

1.5.2.3 Reduction of periods of apnoeas by the addition of oxygen

During the titration night, AHI was significantly decreased with the addition of oxygen and did not decrease significantly with a higher nHFT flow rate. This indicates that especially oxygen addition makes ventilation more stable in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. As discussed in section 1.2, oxygen addition stabilises ventilation by preventing oxygen desaturations and increasing the storage of oxygen in haemoglobin, which reduces chemosensitivity and periods of apnoea⁸. The AHI was probably not significantly different between the nHFT settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min with and without oxygen due to the low sample size. This has a great influence on statistically significant results. More patients should be measured to verify whether oxygen addition has indeed a significant effect on decreasing AHI.

1.5.2.4 Washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space

It was expected that nHFT would improve the effectiveness of ventilation due to the washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space^{25;33}. This could reduce the RR. The results (shown in Figure 14D) showed that indeed the RR decreased with a higher nHFT flow rate for patient 2. This gives an indication that nHFT did washout the nasopharyngeal dead space, which improved the effectiveness of ventilation²⁵. However, for patient 1 the RR did not decrease with a higher flow rate. Other factors could also influence the RR, such as the sleep stage or the number of apnoeas during that period, which could explain the opposite results. Therefore, the RR only could not be used to determine whether there was a washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space.

The washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space could have negative side effects. For instance, it could induce apnoeas, since it reduces the CO_2 level in the lung²⁷. The AHI was not higher with a higher nHFT flow rate. This indicates that 1) the washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space does not induce apnoeas, or 2) the effect of the generation of a positive (upper) airway pressure on AHI is higher than the effect of the washout of the nasopharyngeal dead space.

1.5.2.5 High compliance due to warmed and humidified air

It was expected that the compliance would be high due to the warmed and humidified air, which should be comfortable ${}^{25;32;37}$. Furthermore, compliance rates of previous studies were high ${}^{32;35}$.

The results so far showed a poor satisfaction: there was a 66% drop out, and the only patient who finished the study, did not decide to continue nHFT afterwards. The average using time per day was high compared to the average using time per day of CPAP therapy (3.6 hours¹⁷). More patients need to be included to further

evaluate the compliance and compare it to CPAP therapy.

The reported complaints of a running nose and nose irritation could be explained by a too low humidity level. At the beginning, the patients were told to choose their own humidity level, instead of advising a humidity level between 34-37 °DP. It is expected that these complaints could be prevented by a higher humidity level. A too large nasal cannula was another complaint: after the second patient complaining about the large nasal cannula as well, smaller nasal cannulas were used, and the third patient did not report complaints about the nasal cannula. The complaints about the device (burning light and noisy) will be reported to the company. The complaints could have contributed to the low compliance. Another complaint, reported during the titration night, was that the flow rate was high and that patients could not exhale easily. This complaint is discussed more extensively in subsection 1.5.2.6.

1.5.2.6 Hyperventilation due to a ventilatory overshoot

High flow of air could give a ventilatory overshoot, promoting hyperventilation and thereby ventilatory instability²⁸. Since AHI did not increase with a higher flow rate, it seems that nHFT does not induce ventilatory instability. The researchers even noticed that the patients needed more time to exhale when the applied flow was higher than 20 L/min. The patients indicated as well that they found it difficult to exhale when using nHFT with flow rates higher than 20 L/min. To confirm these findings, the RR in the healthy subject, which was measured to compute the P_{pha} without occlusion of the catheter, was determined during each flow setting with the mouth open and mouth closed (see Figure 17). The RR with the mouth closed was lower compared



Figure 17: The relationship between the delivered flow by nHFT and the respiratory rate (RR), for both the mouth open (the blue line) and mouth closed (the dashed red line), for a healthy subject. The nHFT flow rate is on the x-axis and the RR is on the y-axis.

to the RR with the mouth open. Moreover, the RR decreased when applying a higher nHFT flow rate, and did not increase as expected when a high flow rate induces hyperventilation. The RR decreased, since the healthy subject needed more time to exhale against the increasing generated flow and the associated increasing created pressure (which was 4.25 cm H₂O with a flow rate of 40 L/min). Less pressure was generated with the mouth open, which could explain why the RR was higher with the mouth open compared to the mouth closed. A decreased RR might be beneficial for patients with CSA, since this prevents hyperventilation and an associate low CO₂ lovel triggering a central approace. However, there is also a risk of hyperinflation when patients do not

low CO₂ level triggering a central approval. However, there is also a risk of hyperinflation when patients do not take enough time to exhale. Although, an increased lung volume decreases the exhalation $gain^{13}$, which is beneficial for stabilising ventilation as well.

1.5.2.7 Effect of nHFT on the heart

In the only patient who finished the study, NTproBNP was slightly higher after nHFT. Whether this is due to nHFT or due to common day-to-day variations⁶⁰, could not be determined. More patients need to be included to study the effect of nHFT on the NTproBNP.

The results of patient 2 showed that HRV during the titration night was influenced by sleep stages a lot, which was shown in previous studies as well⁶¹⁻⁶⁴. Autonomic control is closely related with sleep stages, which could explain this correlation⁶¹. For instance, all HRV features, except for the LF/HF ratio, were lower with the nHFT settings in which patient 2 had periods of deep sleep, and were higher when patient 2 was awake. This pattern was seen in previous studies as well for the HRV features SDNN, VLF and LF^{62;63}.

In previous studies, the RMSSD and the power in the HF frequency band, both reflecting the parasympathetic activity⁴⁶, were higher in periods with deep sleep compared to light sleep in healthy patients⁶³, which is inconsistent to our results. However, another study of Penzel et al.⁶² showed the same unexpected results. Possibly, the underlying disease influences the parasympathetic activity during different sleep stages⁶². More patients need to be measured to analyse what the influence of sleep stages is on the parasympathetic activity in patients with central sleep apnoea and congestive heart failure.

No correlation was found between the AHI during the titration night and all HRV features in patient 2, except for the LF/HF ratio. A previous study showed a decrease in both spectral and time domain HRV features with CPAP therapy in patients with congestive heart failure and central sleep apnoea⁴⁷. It was expected that the time and spectral domain HRV features would be decreased when AHI was lower during that specific nHFT setting. However, since the sleep stages influenced HRV, these effects were probably not visible. Moreover, the patient did not sleep well, which could have influenced these results as well. A previous study compared HRV before and after the therapy⁴⁷. The confounding effect of sleep stages should be lower when comparing two complete nights. If nHFT is able to decrease AHI, a reduced HRV is expected after the therapy.

The results showed the highest sympathetic activity (highest LF/HF ratio) with the setting in which patient 2 was most awake (an oxygen enriched flow rate of 30 L/min). However, the LF/HF ratio was also higher with the setting with a flow rate of 30 L/min, in which the patient was not awake. Normally, sympathetic activity is more predominant during awake, reflected by higher LF/HF ratios^{61;62}. However, the LF/HF ratio is also higher in patients with SDB^{61;65}. The AHI was the highest with the setting with a flow rate of 30 L/min, which might explain the higher LF/HF ratio during this setting. The lowest LF/HF ratio was found with the nHFT setting that provided the longest period of deep sleep and the least SDB, which was expected, since parasympathetic activity is more predominant in deep sleep $^{61-64}$.

For patient 3, there was no correlation between the HRV features and both the sleep stages and AHI. All HRV features were higher with the setting providing a flow rate of 20 L/min, which was not expected, since different HRV features react differently on for instance sleep stages. Possibly, there was an artefact during this setting, which might have influenced the results. Furthermore, the SDNN, reflecting the variation in R-R intervals, is mathematically similar to the total power⁴⁶, which can explain the correlation between these two HRV features. Finally, the power in the VLF frequency band was higher in patients with congestive heart failure and correlated with mortality in another study⁵⁷. For patient 3, the power in the VLF frequency band was lower with the settings with a flow rate of 20 L/min with additional oxygen and with 30 L/min, indicating that these settings were supportive for this patient. For patient 2, the power in the VLF frequency band was higher with the setting with a flow rate of 30 L/min with additional oxygen suggesting that this setting was not supportive for this patient.

In summary, no clear HRV changes due to nHFT were found during the titration night, since the sleep stages influenced HRV a lot. HRV should be compared before and after nHFT to analyse HRV changes due to nHFT.

1.5.3 Titration of the optimal nHFT setting

The titration night was not representative for a normal night, due to low sleep efficacy. During the titration night, patients needed to sleep with many sensors and the researchers came into the room about every hour,

which disturbs a normal sleep. Furthermore, the patients used nHFT for the first time during the titration night, which could disturb the sleep as well. This abnormal sleep pattern made it difficult to determine the optimal nHFT setting reducing AHI for a normal sleep situation based on PSG.

Other signals were analysed, but also due to the sub-optimal titration night and the low number of patients, it is difficult to decide which signals could be used to determine the optimal setting reducing AHI. More patients need to be measured to analyse this.

1.5.4 Limitations and recommendations

Until now, only three patients are included in the RELAX study. Therefore, the statistical results are not fully reliable and conclusions could hardly be drawn. The previous conclusions and discussion points are only indications and need to be confirmed with more data. It is advised to continue with the pilot study, to be able to analyse whether nHFT might be effective reducing AHI. Note that the inclusion is difficult for this study. This was not expected, since almost 46% of the patients with congestive heart failure suffer from SDB⁵, from which 80% suffer from CSA¹². This gives indications that indeed the diagnosis of SDB is often missed.

There was a low compliance with the therapy. Especially the first two patients faced problems with the device and the nasal cannula, which probably influenced the compliance. It is questionable whether the patients quit the therapy due to non-compliance with the SoftFlow $50^{\ensuremath{\circledast}}$ or due to non-compliance with nHFT. It would be interesting to analyse whether there is a poor compliance with for instance another nHFT device, the Optiflow[®] produced by Fisher & Paykel Healthcare, as well. For instance, the producers of the SoftFlow $50^{\ensuremath{\circledast}}$ neutrino that the SoftFlow $50^{\ensuremath{\circledast}}$ always produces the same amount of flow, also when there is a resistance, and that the Optiflow[®] is not able to do that. Although, nHFT might be more comfortable if a lower flow is given when there is resistance due to exhaling.

The titration night in the hospital was not representative for a normal night. Therefore, some analysis could not be performed and the results could hardly be used to determine the optimal nHFT setting. For instance, no periods of REM were present during the use of nHFT at the hospital, which is abnormal. Therefore, the nHFT effect during REM sleep could not be analysed in these patients.

Moreover, the amount of apnoeas/hypopnoeas depends on the sleep stages as well^{4;13}. Within one nHFT setting, multiple periods with and without apnoeas/hypopnoeas were present. Since patients did not have the same sleep stages during each nHFT setting, it was hard to choose the optimal nHFT setting without influence of the sleep stages. It is possible that the optimal nHFT setting reducing AHI was based on the moment when the patient had the optimal sleep stage during the titration night. Therefore, it is doubtful whether a titration night at the hospital is the way to calibrate the optimal nHFT setting.

The Dipha[®] device measuring EMG and several pressures did not work optimally for patient 1. The EMG contained lots of noise, which made the signal analysis unreliable. Moreover, during the titration night of patient 1, the Dipha[®] device stopped measuring every six minutes. Thus, every six minutes the Dipha[®] device needed to be restarted. This made the titration night and the signal analysis labour intensive. Moreover, mistakes could be made in the signal analysis due to missing data. To prevent this from happening again, a second Dipha[®] device was bought.

1.5.5 Directions for future research

When the results of this pilot study will show that nHFT is effective reducing AHI, a randomised controlled trial should be conducted to analyse the effectiveness of nHFT compared to both CPAP and oxygen therapy, the most commonly used therapies for patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. However, when the results indicate that AHI only reduces when additional oxygen is given with nHFT, a randomised controlled trial should be performed to evaluate the effectiveness of oxygen therapy versus a placebo. Until now, studies on the effectiveness of oxygen therapy were short-term, included rather small populations and/or did not include control patients⁸. Therefore, the effects of oxygen therapy, especially on the long-term, are unknown⁸.

In this study, patients acquainted with the SoftFlow $50^{\textcircled{m}}$ for the first time during the titration night, during which lots of other measurements were performed as well. This first negative acquaintance could influence the compliance with the therapy negatively in the four weeks using the therapy at home. It is advised that the patients already use the SoftFlow $50^{\textcircled{m}}$ for one week at home with a low flow setting (for instance 10 L/min) before the titration night. In this way patients can get used to the device before additional measurements are performed. After this week, the patients will come to the hospital for the titration night and the optimal setting is determined. In this way, patients will get a more positive acquaintance with the device, and less measurements and devices are new to the patient during the titration night, which might influence the quality of the titration night and the compliance with nHFT positively. After the titration night. In this study, there is contact with the patient after one week after the initiation of nHFT at home. It is advised to already get contact with the patient after one night too, to give advice in an early stage when patients face problems with nHFT.

1.6 Conclusion

There are indications that nHFT with the addition of oxygen makes ventilation more stable in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. Especially oxygen addition seems to be effective reducing AHI. More patients need to be included in the study to verify this result. Patients were not satisfied with nHFT. Probably, low humidity levels and a large nasal cannula might explain the low compliance. A humidity level between 34-37 ^oDP and a smaller nasal cannula are advised. Furthermore, the high flow rate made exhaling more difficult, which is uncomfortable. It is recommended to analyse whether a nHFT device, in which the flow rate decreases when there is resistance, would increase the compliance. Moreover, it was difficult to determine the optimal nHFT setting during the titration night due to poor sleep quality. The sleep quality during the titration night and compliance might increase when patients get used to sleeping with the nHFT device one week before the titration night. The pharyngeal pressure was not measured properly due to occlusion of the catheter by secretions. When occlusion by secretions was prevented, the pharyngeal pressure increased linearly with a higher nHFT flow rate. A 20 ml/h airflow produced by a microinfusor at the inlet of the catheter might avoid occlusion of the catheter by secretions. There are indications that a higher flow rate reduces the work of breathing and the neural breathing drive, which indicates that patients can relax their muscles more with a higher flow rate. There were no clear HRV changes due to nHFT found, since the sleep stages influenced HRV a lot. HRV should be compared before and after nHFT to analyse HRV changes due to nHFT.

In conclusion, nHFT with the addition of oxygen might stabilise ventilation in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA. However, due to the poor compliance so far, nHFT does not seem to be an optimal treatment for these patients.

2 PART II: Added value of transcutaneous electromyography (EMG)

2.1 Introduction

This part of the study focuses on the added value of transcutaneous EMG. EMG is a simple, reproducible and sensitive non-invasive method to evaluate the activity of respiratory muscles $^{48;66}$. In this study it is analysed whether EMGdi signals can also be used to detect 1) both OSA and CSA, and to assess 2) HRV.

1) Especially in patients with congestive heart failure and CSA this additional analysis would be of added value. As discussed in section 1.1, the diagnosis of SDB is often missed due to overlapping symptoms with congestive heart failure^{4;11}. Nowadays, patients need at least a polygraphy measurement to analyse whether they suffer from SDB, which is time-consuming⁶⁷ and expensive. In practice, only patients suspected of having SDB receive a polygraphy measurement. As a consequence, many patients are not diagnosed with SDB and therefore are not treated for it^{4;11}. An EMG measurement is much more simple and less time-consuming compared to a polygraphy measurement. When SDB patterns could be automatically detected in an EMGdi signal, many more patients with congestive heart failure could be easily screened for SDB.

2) HRV is the variation in the time interval between heart beats, which reflects the function of the autonomic nerve system that controls the heart rate⁴⁶, as discussed in section 1.3. HRV is less variable in patients with severe congestive heart failure and is a predictor of mortality^{47;68;69}. Normally, HRV is measured with a 24-hour Holter measurement. When measuring EMGdi, heart activity is detected with the transcutaneous electrodes as well. Normally, this heart activity is removed by advanced signal processing techniques in order to analyse the activity of the respiratory muscles⁵¹. When HRV could also be determined using the raw EMGdi signal, the 24-hour Holter measurement is superfluous to measure HRV continuously with the neural breathing drive of the diaphragm.

The research question of this part of the study is:

Can sleep appoea and HRV be detected with transcutaneous EMG of the diaphragm?

When it is possible to measure sleep apnoea and HRV using transcutaneous EMG, less invasive and uncomfortable measurements would be needed during the titration night of the study described in part I.

Methods 2.2

2.2.1Data acquisition

The EMG and PSG data from the titration night, as discussed in section 1.3, were used for the analysis of this part as well. Additionally, data from one patient with a double sided diaphragm paralysis, which got a PSG with EMG during the night, were also used to assess HRV with EMG. Section 1.3.3.5 and section 1.3.3.2 describe how EMG and PSG were measured, respectively.

2.2.2Detection of sleep approved with EMG

To investigate whether periods of OSA and CSA could be detected with EMG, the EMGdi_{fse} during periods of apnoea were compared with the $EMGdi_{fse}$ during normal breathing. The method of determining EMGdi_{fse} was outlined in section 1.3.4.5. To exclude the influence of nHFT and sleep stages on $EMGdi_{fse}$, only data when the patient was in light sleep without using nHFT were analysed.

For each CSA event, the area under the EMGdi_{fse} curve was calculated (AUC_c) , as shown in Figure 18. There was corrected for the length of the CSA event by dividing the AUC_c by the length of the CSA event. The area under the $EMGdi_{fse}$ curve was calculated for OSA events (AUC_o) and for normal breathing (AUC_n) in the same way. The difference in AUC in percentages between both the two types of approved (AUC_c and AUC_o) and normal breathing (AUC_n) was determined.

Additionally, the envelope of the EMGdi_{fse} was calculated using spline interpolation over local maximal points separated by at least 1.5 seconds, which could be a way to distinguish normal breathing with appropriate straight distinguish normal breathing with appropriate straight distinguish appropriate straight distinguish normal breathing with appropriate straight distinguish appropriate straight

It was expected that the AUC_o and the envelope during an OSA event were increased compared to the AUC_n and the envelope during normal breathing, since the patient need to breath against an obstruction. It was expected that the AUC_c and the envelope during a CSA event were decreased compared to the AUC_n and the envelope during normal



Figure 18: Analysis of detecting sleep appoea with EMG. A. An example of a central approve. The time is on the x-axis and the apnoea analysis is on the yaxis. **B.** The EMGdi_{fse} during the same time frame. The area under the $EMGdi_{fse}$ curve was determined during the central approved (AUC_c) , indicated with the grey area.

breathing, since there is no neural breathing drive during a CSA event.

2.2.3Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG

To investigate whether HRV can be estimated with EMG signals (HRV_{EMG}), HRV_{EMG} was compared to the HRV estimated using the ECG signals of the PSG (HRV_{ECG}) during the whole night. The analysis of HRV_{ECG} is already explained in section 1.3.4.6. In addition, the parts of the ECG data which contained noise, were not analysed. The raw EMG was used to calculate HRV_{EMG} , since heart activity is still present in the raw EMG. The R-peaks from each heart beat were detected using the *findpeaks* function in Matlab[®] and the R-R intervals were determined by assessing the difference between consecutive R peaks. The time domain and frequency domain features of HRV, which are shown in Table 2 in section 1.3.4.6, were calculated for each 5 minute interval. Bland Altman plots⁷⁰ were constructed to compare HRV_{ECG} with HRV_{EMG} per 5-minute segment.

2.3 Results

A. EMGdi_{fse} 0.6 Voltage (_µ V) 700 800 (_µ V) EMGdi_{fse} Envelope 0 70 80 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 170 Time(s) B. Apnoea analysis Central apnoea Obstructive apnoea Normal breathing 70 80 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 170 Time(s)

2.3.1 Detection of sleep appoea with EMG

Figure 19: Change of the AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} during an obstructive and central approa. A. The EMGdi_{fse} signal is shown in blue. The envelope of the EMGdi_{fse} is shown in red. The time is on the x-axis and the voltage is on the y-axis. B. The approach analysis during the same time frame. The time is on the x-axis and the type of approach is on the y-axis.

Table 8 shows the difference in AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} in percentages between CSA and normal breathing and between OSA and normal breathing. Both types of sleep apnoea showed a lower AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} compared to normal breathing. In the first two patients, OSA showed a higher AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} than CSA.

Figure 19 shows an example of the change in $EMGdi_{fse}$ during an OSA and CSA event. During both types of apnoea the $EMGdi_{fse}$ signal and the envelope of this signal decreased. This suggests that both apnoeas might have been of central original decreased in the envelope of the signal decreased is the suggest of the suggest between the suggest that both apnoeas might have been of central original decreased.

Table 8: AUC difference (%) of the EMGdi_{fse} between both central and obstructive sleep approve and normal breathing.

	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3
AUC_c/AUC_n	32%	59%	78%*
AUC_o/AUC_n	50%	84%	-

Table 8. A '*' indicates that this is a percentage of central hypopnoeas and not apnoeas, due to an absence of central apnoeas. A '-' indicates that there were no obstructive events present.

gin and that the second event was incorrectly defined as an OSA event with the PSG.

2.3.2 Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG

Figure 20 shows the agreement between HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} for all patients through Bland-Altman plots of four HRV features: SDNN, RMSSD, LF/HF ratio and total power. The Bland-Altman plots of the other HRV features are not shown, since they were comparable. The mean difference and standard deviation between HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} of the four HRV features are included in Table 9 together with the percentage of data within the limits of agreement. The mean difference between the ECG and EMG-based SDNN was almost zero, which indicates that the SDNN_{ECG} was comparable to the SDNN_{EMG} . When looking at Figure 20A, most data points were at the zero level. Especially, there were a few outliers around the mean of 0.2, in which the SDNN_{ECG} was lower than the SDNN_{EMG} . These outliers increased the limits of agreement.



Figure 20: Bland-Altman plots of four HRV features, in which HRV_{EMG} is compared with HRV_{ECG} . Each circle reflect a 5-minute segment. The HRV analysis of all patients are plotted in this figure. The y-axis shows the difference between HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} . The x-axis shows the mean of the HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} . The top and bottom line in the Bland-Altman plots reflect the upper and lower limits of agreement, calculated through the average ± 1.96 times the standard deviation. The middle line is the mean difference between HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} . A. The Bland-Altman plot of the HRV feature SDNN. B. The Bland-Altman plot of the HRV feature RMSSD. C. The Bland-Altman plot of the HRV feature LF/HF ratio. D. The Bland-Altman plot of the HRV feature total power between 0.015-0.4 Hz.

The comparison of the RMSSD_{ECG} with the RMSSD_{EMG} showed the same pattern (shown in Figure 20B) as the comparison of the SDNN_{ECG} with the SDNN_{EMG} . Most outliers were present when the mean of the RMSSD_{ECG} and the RMSSD_{EMG} was around 0.3.

The mean difference of the LF/HF ratio was above zero. Figure 20C shows that most data points were around zero. Especially there were two outliers when the mean of the LF/HF ratio_{ECG} and LF/HF ratio_{EMG} was between 1 and 2, in which the LF/HF ratio_{ECG} was higher than the LF/HF ratio_{EMG}. This probably contributes to a mean difference of the LF/HF ratio above zero.

Table 9: The average difference between HRV_{ECG} and HRV_{EMG} , the standard deviation (std) and the percentage of data points within the limits of agreement (LOA).

	mean	std	LOA $(\%)$
SDNN (s)	-0.0004	0.0099	94
RMSSD (s)	-0.0004	0.0107	90
LF/HF ratio	0.0117	0.2115	93
Total power	0.4383	33.9060	96
(s^2*60/Hz)			

The mean difference of the total power was above zero, which

means that the Power_{ECG} was slightly higher than the Power_{EMG}. Figure 20D shows that there were a few outliers, which increased the limits of agreement.

2.4 Discussion

There are indications that sleep appoea can be distinguished from normal breathing with EMG. Moreover, the time domain HRV features could be determined using EMG. However, the limits of agreement of the spectral domain HRV features were too high to determine these with EMG. The results are further discussed in the subsections below.

2.4.1 Detection of sleep appoea with EMG

A difference in the AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} between sleep appoea and normal breathing was shown. However, more patients need to be analysed to assess whether there is a statistical difference.

The detected CSA events did have a smaller AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} than the OSA events. The highest AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} for CSA events was found in patient 3. Since only hypopnoeas were analysed in this patient, in which there is still some airflow, it can be explained that the highest AUC was found in this patient. More patients need to be included to analyse whether there is a significant difference between the AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} during OSA and CSA events.

The results of OSA were not as expected. It was expected that the AUC of the EMGdi_{fse} would increase compared to normal breathing. However, these OSA events were detected in patients who mainly suffer from CSA. These OSA events might contain a central element, which might decrease the EMGdi_{fse} , but not completely. Therefore, possibly these events were incorrectly determined as OSA events by the PSG. When this is the case, OSA and CSA events might even be distinguished better using EMG than using PSG analysis.

2.4.2 Assessment of heart rate variability with EMG

The mean difference between the ECG and EMG-based SDNN and RMSSD was low. When looking at Table 7, the SDNN and RMSSD of the different nHFT settings could still be distinguished when using HRV_{EMG} , since the limits of agreement were small. Literature shows that the limits of agreement must be below 0.03s to be able to analyse SDNN and RMSSD using EMG^{56;62;67}, which was the case for both the SDNN and RMSSD. Furthermore, on average 92% of the data points was within the limits of agreement. This indicates that HRV_{EMG} could be used to determine the SDNN and RMSSD. However, more patients need to be included to analyse whether the EMG signal could be used to determine the time domain HRV features in other patients as well.

The mean difference between the ECG and EMG-based LF/HF ratio was small, which indicates that the EMG signal would be a good alternative to estimate the LF/HF ratio. However, the limits of agreement and the standard deviation were too high to analyse for instance the difference in LF/HF ratio between the different nHFT settings. In addition, literature shows that the limits of agreement must be below 0.3s to be able to analyse LF/HF ratio using EMG⁶³, while the limits of agreement of the comparison between the ECG and EMG-based LF/HF ratio was around 0.4s. More data points were above zero, which indicates that the ECG-based LF/HF ratio was higher than the EMG-based LF/HF ratio. This indicates that the ECG-based R-R intervals contained less high frequencies and more low frequencies than the EMG-based R-R intervals. Possibly, this difference might be explained by missing R-peaks in the ECG-signal, since R-peak detection was difficult to perform due to noisy ECG signals. When R-peaks are missing, less high frequency oscillations are detected, which results in a higher ECG-based LF/HF ratio.

The mean difference between the ECG and EMG-based total power was above zero, which indicates that there was more power in the ECG-based R-R intervals compared to the EMG-based R-R intervals. However, this mean difference above zero was probably mostly due to the outliers. Furthermore, the limits of agreement were too high to distinguish the difference in total power between different nHFT settings. However, the few outliers did also increase these limits of agreement.

For all HRV features, there were a few outliers, which increased the mean differences and the limits of agreement. These outliers were mainly due to a noisy ECG signal, which changed HRV_{ECG} results. This noisy ECG signal

makes it difficult to validate the HRV_{EMG} method. The parts of the ECG signal with lots of noise were removed from this analysis. However, when the ECG signal contained only a little noise, this could still influence the HRV_{ECG} . Therefore, it seems that the ECG signal of the PSG is not a good gold standard to validate the HRV_{EMG} method. The EMG signal did not contain noise which disturbed the heart signal. Therefore, the EMG signal seems to be a more reliable signal to determine the HRV than the PSG-based ECG signal. More patients need to be included to further analyse this.

2.4.3 Limitations and recommendations

2.4.3.1 Detection of sleep appoea with EMG

EMG signals between patients differ a lot: some patients show noisy EMG signals and in some patients the breathing signal could be derived perfectly from the EMG signals. Therefore, more patients need to be studied to assess whether sleep apnoea could be identified from EMG signals.

Another recommendation is to analyse the relation between OSA events and the EMG in purely OSA patients too. It is expected that the EMG amplitude increases during an OSA event in patients with OSA and decreases during an OSA event in patients with especially CSA.

2.4.3.2 Detection of heart rate variability with EMG

The ECG data contained lots of artefacts and the EMG results needed to be validated with the ECG data. The official gold standard of measuring HRV is a 24-hour Holter measurement. It is recommended to perform EMG measurements together with a 24-hour Holter measurement to validate the use of EMG data estimating HRV. This needs to be performed in at least 10 subjects, to analyse whether EMG is suitable to determine HRV in different subjects. Since the results of the validation of HRV_{EMG} showed that EMG might be a good technique to determine HRV, a good correlation with the 24-hour Holter measurement is expected.

2.5 Conclusion

There are indications that sleep apnoea can be distinguished from normal breathing with EMG, since the neural breathing drive decreased during an apnoea compared to normal breathing. More patients need to be analysed to determine whether there is a statistical difference in neural breathing drive between periods of apnoea and normal breathing. The neural breathing drive decreased during both OSA and CSA events, while it was expected that the neural breathing drive would increase during an OSA event. Possibly, the OSA events contained a central element, since the events were measured in patients suffering mainly from CSA. The neural breathing drive during an OSA events in patients with OSA should be analysed as well to study whether this differs from OSA events in patients with mainly CSA.

The difference between the time domain HRV features determined with ECG and the time domain HRV features determined with EMG was small. This gives indications that the time domain HRV features could be estimated using EMG. The limits of agreement of the difference between the ECG and EMG analysis of the spectral domain HRV features were too high. This indicates that the spectral domain HRV features could not be determined with EMG. More measurements should be performed to analyse whether the HRV time domain features could also be determined using EMG in other patients. Furthermore, the ECG data of the PSG is not appropriate to validate the HRV analysis using EMG, since the ECG data contained lots of noise. The HRV analysis using EMG data should be validated with a 24-hour Holter measurement instead.

Once the method has been validated better, EMG is nevertheless a promising technique to detect sleep apnoea and to monitor its consequences on the heart easily and non-invasive, also for the home situation.

References

- G Savarese and LH Lund. Global public health burden of heart failure. Cardiac Failure Review, 3(1):7, 2017.
- [2] D Mozaffarian, EJ Benjamin, AS Go, DK Arnett, MJ Blaha, M Cushman, SR Das, S de Ferranti, J Després, HJ Fullerton, et al. Executive summary: Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*, 133(4):447, 2016.
- [3] PJ Kumar and ML Clark. *Clinical Medicine*. Elsevier, 7th edition, 2009.
- [4] MT Naughton. Pathophysiology and treatment of cheyne-stokes respiration. Thorax, 53(6):514–518, 1998.
- [5] M Arzt, H Woehrle, O Oldenburg, A Graml, A Suling, E Erdmann, H Teschler, K Wegscheider, et al. Prevalence and predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in patients with stable chronic heart failure: the schlahf registry. JACC: Heart Failure, 4(2):116–125, 2016.
- [6] S Javaheri, T Blackwell, S Ancoli-Israel, KE Ensrud, KL Stone, and S Redline. Sleep-disordered breathing and incident heart failure in older men. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 193(5):561–568, 2016.
- [7] K Sano, E Watanabe, J Hayano, Y Mieno, Y Sobue, M Yamamoto, T Ichikawa, H Sakakibara, K Imaizumi, and Y Ozaki. Central sleep apnoea and inflammation are independently associated with arrhythmia in patients with heart failure. *European journal of heart failure*, 15(9):1003–1010, 2013.
- [8] P Bordier, A Lataste, P Hofmann, F Robert, and G Bourenane. Nocturnal oxygen therapy in patients with chronic heart failure and sleep apnea: a systematic review. *Sleep medicine*, 17:149–157, 2016.
- [9] MR Cowie, H Woehrle, K Wegscheider, C Angermann, M d'Ortho, E Erdmann, P Levy, AK Simonds, VK Somers, F Zannad, et al. Adaptive servo-ventilation for central sleep apnea in systolic heart failure. New England Journal of Medicine, 373(12):1095–1105, 2015.
- [10] C Jilek, M Krenn, D Sebah, R Obermeier, A Braune, V Kehl, S Schroll, S Montalvan, GAJ Riegger, M Pfeifer, et al. Prognostic impact of sleep disordered breathing and its treatment in heart failure: an observational study. *European journal of heart failure*, 13(1):68–75, 2011.
- [11] B Sharma, D McSharry, and A Malhotra. Sleep disordered breathing in patients with heart failure: pathophysiology and management. *Current treatment options in cardiovascular medicine*, 13(6):506, 2011.
- [12] M Emdin, G Mirizzi, A Giannoni, R Poletti, G Iudice, F Bramanti, and C Passino. Prognostic significance of central apneas throughout a 24-hour period in patients with heart failure. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 70(11):1351–1364, 2017.
- [13] AB Hernandez and SP Patil. Pathophysiology of central sleep apneas. Sleep and Breathing, 20(2):467–482, 2016.
- [14] S Andreas, K Weidel, G Hagenah, and S Heindl. Treatment of cheyne-stokes respiration with nasal oxygen and carbon dioxide. *European Respiratory Journal*, 12(2):414–419, 1998.
- [15] O Oldenburg, B Wellmann, A Buchholz, T Bitter, H Fox, U Thiem, D Horstkotte, and K Wegscheider. Nocturnal hypoxaemia is associated with increased mortality in stable heart failure patients. *European heart journal*, page ehv624, 2015.

- [16] RN Aurora, S Chowdhuri, K Ramar, SR Bista, KR Casey, CI Lamm, DA Kristo, JM Mallea, JA Rowley, RS Zak, et al. The treatment of central sleep apnea syndromes in adults: practice parameters with an evidence-based literature review and meta-analyses. *Sleep*, 35(1):17–40, 2012.
- [17] L Grote, J Hedner, R Grunstein, and H Kraiczi. Therapy with ncpap: incomplete elimination of sleep related breathing disorder. *European Respiratory Journal*, 16(5):921–927, 2000.
- [18] WA DeBacker, J Verbraecken, M Willemen, W Wittesaele, W DeCock, and P Van deHeyning. Central apnea index decreases after prolonged treatment with acetazolamide. *American journal of respiratory and* critical care medicine, 151(1):87–91, 1995.
- [19] M Fontana, M Emdin, A Giannoni, G Iudice, R Baruah, and C Passino. Effect of acetazolamide on chemosensitivity, cheyne-stokes respiration, and response to effort in patients with heart failure. The American journal of cardiology, 107(11):1675–1680, 2011.
- [20] DP White, CW Zwillich, CK Pickett, NJ Douglas, LJ Findley, and JV Weil. Central sleep apnea: improvement with acetazolamide therapy. Archives of Internal Medicine, 142(10):1816–1819, 1982.
- [21] TD Bradley, AG Logan, RJ Kimoff, F Sériès, D Morrison, K Ferguson, I Belenkie, M Pfeifer, J Fleetham, P Hanly, et al. Continuous positive airway pressure for central sleep apnea and heart failure. New England Journal of Medicine, 353(19):2025–2033, 2005.
- [22] DD Sin, AG Logan, FS Fitzgerald, PP Liu, and TD Bradley. Effects of continuous positive airway pressure on cardiovascular outcomes in heart failure patients with and without cheyne-stokes respiration. *Circulation*, 102(1):61–66, 2000.
- [23] T Dohi, T Kasai, K Narui, S Ishiwata, M Ohno, T Yamaguchi, and S Momomura. Bi-level positive airway pressure ventilation for treating heart failure with central sleep apnea that is unresponsive to continuous positive airway pressure. *Circulation*, 72(7):1100–1105, 2008.
- [24] T Kasai, K Narui, T Dohi, S Ishiwata, K Yoshimura, S Nishiyama, T Yamaguchi, and S Momomura. Efficacy of nasal bi-level positive airway pressure in congestive heart failure patients with cheyne-stokes respiration and central sleep apnea. *Circulation*, 69(8):913–921, 2005.
- [25] K Dysart, TL Miller, MR Wolfson, and TH Shaffer. Research in high flow therapy: mechanisms of action. *Respiratory medicine*, 103(10):1400–1405, 2009.
- [26] J Urbano, J del Castillo, J López-Herce, JA Gallardo, MJ Solana, and A Carrillo. High-flow oxygen therapy: pressure analysis in a pediatric airway model. *Respiratory Care*, 57(5):721–726, 2012.
- [27] CF Adams, M Jermy, and PH Geoghegan. Effect of nasal high flow therapy on co2 tension physicomathematical modelling. Biotechno 2016: the eight international conference of Bioinformatics, Biocomputational Systems and Biotechnologies, pages 16–20, 2016.
- [28] G Nilius, T Wessendorf, J Maurer, R Stoohs, SP Patil, N Schubert, and H Schneider. Predictors for treating obstructive sleep apnea with an open nasal cannula system (transnasal insufflation). *Chest*, 137(3):521–528, 2010.
- [29] BM McGinley, SP Patil, JP Kirkness, PL Smith, AR Schwartz, and H Schneider. A nasal cannula can be used to treat obstructive sleep apnea. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 176(2):194–200, 2007.
- [30] H Schneider, DJ O'Hearn, K LeBlanc, PL Smith, CP O'Donnell, DW Eisele, JH Peter, and AR Schwartz. High-flow transtracheal insufflation treats obstructive sleep apnea: a pilot study. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 161(6):1869–1876, 2000.

- [31] DP Francis, K Willson, LC Davies, AJS Coats, and M Piepoli. Quantitative general theory for periodic breathing in chronic heart failure and its clinical implications. *Circulation*, 102(18):2214–2221, 2000.
- [32] M Nishimura. High-flow nasal cannula oxygen therapy in adults. Journal of intensive care, 3(1):15, 2015.
- [33] SC Van Hove, J Storey, C Adams, K Dey, PH Geoghegan, N Kabaliuk, SD Oldfield, CJT Spence, MC Jermy, V Suresh, et al. An experimental and numerical investigation of co2 distribution in the upper airways during nasal high flow therapy. Annals of biomedical engineering, 44(10):3007–3019, 2016.
- [34] J Bräunlich and G Nilius. Nasal highflow (nhf): A new therapeutic option for the treatment of respiratory failure. *Pneumologie*, 70(1):49–54, 2016.
- [35] Y Chikata, M Onodera, J Oto, and M Nishimura. Fio2 in an adult model simulating high-flow nasal cannula therapy. *Respiratory Care*, pages respcare–04963, 2016.
- [36] S Rubin, A Ghuman, T Deakers, R Khemani, P Ross, and CJ Newth. Effort of breathing in children receiving high-flow nasal cannula. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine*, 15(1):1–6, 2014.
- [37] H Kumar, CJT Spence, and MH Tawhai. Modeling the pharyngeal pressure during adult nasal high flow therapy. Respiratory physiology & neurobiology, 219:51–57, 2015.
- [38] CH Manisty, K Willson, R Wensel, ZI Whinnett, JE Davies, WLG Oldfield, J Mayet, and DP Francis. Development of respiratory control instability in heart failure: a novel approach to dissect the pathophysiological mechanisms. *The Journal of physiology*, 577(1):387–401, 2006.
- [39] BA Edwards, SA Sands, C Feeney, EM Skuza, V Brodecky, MH Wilkinson, and PJ Berger. Continuous positive airway pressure reduces loop gain and resolves periodic central apneas in the lamb. *Respiratory* physiology & neurobiology, 168(3):239–249, 2009.
- [40] F Montecchia, S Luciani, R Cicchetti, R Grossi, F Midulla, C Moretti, and P Papoff. Pharyngeal and esophageal pressure measurements to evaluate respiratory mechanics in infants on high flow nasal cannula: a feasibility study. In *Medical Measurements and Applications (MeMeA), 2015 IEEE International* Symposium, pages 234–239. IEEE, 2015.
- [41] TNI medical AG. TNI softFlow 50 Homecare system: Operating instruction. 2015.
- [42] RB Berry, R Budhiraja, DJ Gottlieb, D Gozal, C Iber, VK Kapur, CL Marcus, R Mehra, S Parthasarathy, SF Quan, et al. Rules for scoring respiratory events in sleep: update of the 2007 aasm manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events. J Clin Sleep Med, 8(5):597–619, 2012.
- [43] J Heinrich, J Spießhöfer, T Bitter, D Horstkotte, and O Oldenburg. Implications of revised aasm rules on scoring apneic and hypopneic respiratory events in patients with heart failure with nocturnal cheyne-stokes respiration. *Sleep and Breathing*, 19(2):489–494, 2015.
- [44] what-when how. Ventilatory control during wakefulness and sleep part 2. http://what-when-how.com/acpmedicine/ventilatory-control-during-wakefulness-and-sleep-part-2/. Accessed: September 25, 2017.
- [45] Sound Sleep Health B.V. Central sleep apnea: Causes, diagnosis, and therapies. https://www.soundsleephealth.com/blog/central-sleep-apnea-causes-diagnosis-therapies. Accessed: September 25, 2017.
- [46] P Dehkordi, A Garde, W Karlen, D Wensley, JM Ansermino, and GA Dumont. Pulse rate variability compared with heart rate variability in children with and without sleep disordered breathing. *Engineering* in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE, pages 6563–6566, 2013.

- [47] KV Terziyski, AI Draganova, ZZ Taralov, IS Ilchev, and SS Kostianev. The effect of continuous positive airway pressure on heart rate variability during the night in patients with chronic heart failure and central sleep apnoea. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 43(12):1185–1190, 2016.
- [48] ML Duiverman, AS Huberts, LA van Eykern, G Bladder, and PJ Wijkstra. Respiratory muscle activity and patient-ventilator asynchrony during different settings of non-invasive ventilation in stable hypercapnic copd. International Journal of COPD, 12:243–257, 2017.
- [49] TMT Pham, L O'malley, S Mayfield, S Martin, and A Schibler. The effect of high flow nasal cannula therapy on the work of breathing in infants with bronchiolitis. *Pediatric pulmonology*, 50(7):713–720, 2015.
- [50] JO Benditt. Esophageal and gastric pressure measurements. Respiratory care, 50(1):68–77, 2005.
- [51] L Estrada, A Torres, L Sarlabous, and R Jané. Improvement in neural respiratory drive estimation from diaphragm electromyographic signals using fixed sample entropy. *IEEE journal of biomedical and health* informatics, 20(2):476–485, 2016.
- [52] L Sarlabous, A Torres, JA Fiz, and R Jané. Evidence towards improved estimation of respiratory muscle effort from diaphragm mechanomyographic signals with cardiac vibration interference using sample entropy with fixed tolerance values. *PloS one*, 9(2):e88902, 2014.
- [53] L Estrada, A Torres-Cebrian, L Sarlabous, and R Jane. Onset and offset estimation of the neural inspiratory time in surface diaphragm electromyography: A pilot study in healthy subjects. *IEEE Journal of Biomedical* and Health Informatics, 2017.
- [54] C Sinderby, S Liu, D Colombo, G Camarotta, AS Slutsky, P Navalesi, and J Beck. An automated and standardized neural index to quantify patient-ventilator interaction. *Critical Care*, 17(5):1, 2013.
- [55] Simplifaster technology for athletic speed development. Heart rate variability training. https://simplifaster.com/articles/heart-rate-variability-training/. Accessed: Oktober 4, 2017.
- [56] K Umetani, DH Singer, R McCraty, and M Atkinson. Twenty-four hour time domain heart rate variability and heart rate: relations to age and gender over nine decades. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 31(3):593–601, 1998.
- [57] JT Bigger, JL Fleiss, RC Steinman, LM Rolnitzky, RE Kleiger, and JN Rottman. Frequency domain measures of heart period variability and mortality after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, 85(1):164–171, 1992.
- [58] WA Whitelaw, RF Brant, and WW Flemons. Clinical usefulness of home oximetry compared with polysomnography for assessment of sleep apnea. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 171(2):188–193, 2005.
- [59] RL Parke, ML Eccleston, and SP McGuinness. The effects of flow on airway pressure during nasal high-flow oxygen therapy. *Respiratory Care*, 56(8):1151–1155, 2011.
- [60] S Bruins, MR Fokkema, JWP Römer, MJL DeJongste, FPL van der Dijs, JMW van den Ouweland, and FAJ Muskiet. High intraindividual variation of b-type natriuretic peptide (bnp) and amino-terminal probnp in patients with stable chronic heart failure. *Clinical chemistry*, 50(11):2052–2058, 2004.
- [61] A Baharav, S Kotagal, BK Rubin, J Pratt, and S Akselrod. Autonomic cardiovascular control in children with obstructive sleep apnea. *Clinical Autonomic Research*, 9(6):345–351, 1999.

- [62] T Penzel, JW Kantelhardt, L Grote, JH Peter, and A Bunde. Comparison of detrended fluctuation analysis and spectral analysis for heart rate variability in sleep and sleep apnea. *IEEE Transactions on biomedical* engineering, 50(10):1143–1151, 2003.
- [63] L Toscani, PF Gangemi, A Parigi, R Silipo, P Ragghianti, E Sirabella, M Morelli, L Bagnoli, R Vergassola, and G Zaccara. Human heart rate variability and sleep stages. *The Italian Journal of Neurological Sciences*, 17(6):437–439, 1996.
- [64] E Vanoli, PB Adamson, GD Pinna, R Lazzara, WC Orr, et al. Heart rate variability during specific sleep stages. *Circulation*, 91(7):1918–1922, 1995.
- [65] K Kwok, T Yung, DK Ng, C Chan, W Lau, and Y Fu. Heart rate variability in childhood obstructive sleep apnea. *Pediatric pulmonology*, 46(3):205–210, 2011.
- [66] ML Duiverman, EWJ de Boer, LA van Eykern, MHG de Greef, DF Jansen, JB Wempe, HAM Kerstjens, and PJ Wijkstra. Respiratory muscle activity and dyspnea during exercise in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiratory physiology & neurobiology*, 167(2):195–200, 2009.
- [67] F Roche, JM Gaspoz, P Minini, V Pichot, D Duverney, F Costes, JR Lacour, JC Barthélémy, et al. Screening of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome by heart rate variability analysis. *Circulation*, 100(13):1411– 1415, 1999.
- [68] J Nolan, PD Batin, R Andrews, SJ Lindsay, P Brooksby, M Mullen, W Baig, AD Flapan, A Cowley, RJ Prescott, et al. Prospective study of heart rate variability and mortality in chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 98(15):1510–1516, 1998.
- [69] RE Kleiger, JP Miller, JT Bigger, and AJ Moss. Decreased heart rate variability and its association with increased mortality after acute myocardial infarction. *The American journal of cardiology*, 59(4):256–262, 1987.
- [70] JM Bland and DG Altman. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *The Lancet*, 327(8476):307–310, 1986.